
 

 

 
 
 

Wednesday,  
10 November 2021 

2.00 pm 
 
 

Meeting of 
Local Pension Board - 
Firefighters Pension 

Scheme 
Remote Meeting  

Via Skype 
 

Contact Officer: 
Donna Linton 

Democratic Services 
 

Fire Service Headquarters, Clemonds Hey, Winsford, Cheshire, CW7 2UA 
 

Tel: 01606 868804 
E-mail: donna.linton@cheshirefire.gov.uk 

 



 

 

 
 
 

Cheshire Fire Authority 
Notes for Members of the Public 

____________________________________________________________________________ 
Attendance at Meetings 
The Cheshire Fire Authority welcomes and encourages members of the public to be at its 
meetings and Committees. You are requested to remain quiet whilst the meeting is taking place 
and to enter and leave the meeting room as quickly and quietly as possible. 
 
All meetings of the Authority are held at the Training Centre, Sadler Road, Winsford.  If you plan 
to attend please report first to the Reception Desk where you will be asked to sign in and will be 
given a visitors pass.  You should return your pass to the Reception Desk when you leave the 
building. There are some car parking spaces available on site for visitors at the front of the 
building.  Please do not park in spaces reserved for Fire Service personnel. 
 
If you feel there might be particular problems with access to the building or car parking please 
contact the Reception Desk at Sadler Road Winsford Tel (01606) 868700. 
 

Access to Information 
Copies of the Agenda will be available at the meeting.  A copy can also be obtained from the 
contact officer named on the front of the Agenda. Alternatively, the Agenda and individual 
reports are available on the Authority’s website (www.cheshirefire.gov.uk) 
 
The Agenda is usually divided into two parts. Most business is dealt with in the first part which is 
open to the public. On some occasions some business may need to be considered in the 
second part of the agenda, in private session. There are limited reasons which allow this to take 
place, e.g. as confidential information is being considered about an individual, or commercial 
information is being discussed. 
 
This agenda is available in large print, Braille, audio CD or in community languages upon 
request by contacting; Telephone: 01606868414 or email: equalities@cheshirefire.gov.uk 
 
Recording of Meetings 
The Authority audio records its meetings. Please contact Democratic Services for a copy of the 
recording via DemocraticServices@cheshirefire.gov.uk.  The recordings are not kept 
indefinitely. 

Fire Evacuation 
If the Fire Alarm sounds you should make you way to the nearest exit as quickly as possible and 
leave the building.  Please follow any instructions from staff about evacuation routes. 
 

mailto:equalities@cheshirefire.gov.uk


 

 

 

MEETING OF THE LOCAL PENSION BOARD - FIREFIGHTERS PENSION 
SCHEME 
WEDNESDAY, 10 NOVEMBER 2021 
Time : 2.00 pm 
Remote Meeting - Via Skype 
 
 

AGENDA 
 
1 Apologies  

 
 

2 Declaration of Interests  
 

 

3 Notes from the previous meeting  
A copy of the notes from the previous meeting held on 11th August 
2021 are attached, for information. 
 

(Pages 1 - 6) 

4 XPS Administration Cheshire Fire Pension Board Report 2021-
2022  
 

(Pages 7 - 22) 

5 Firefighter Pension Scheme Update  
 

(Pages 23 - 50) 

6 McCloud/Sargeant Judgement Update  
 

(Pages 51 - 58) 

7 Firefighter Pension Scheme Risk Register  
 

(Pages 59 - 72) 

8 JCNP Pensions Update  
 

(Verbal Report) 

9 Pension Board Training Update  
 

(Verbal Report) 

 
 
Next Meeting: Wednesday 23rd March 2022 at 2.00pm  
 

 

 





Minutes 
Local Pension Board - Firefighters Pension Scheme 

Wednesday, 11 August 2021 

 

1 

 
MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE LOCAL PENSION BOARD - FIREFIGHTERS 
PENSION SCHEME held on Wednesday, 11 August 2021 at Remote Meeting - Via 
Skype at 2.00 pm 
 
PRESENT:  
BOARD MEMBERS: Councillors David Brown (Chair) and George Peers (FBU) 
 
OFFICERS: Andrea Harvey (Pension Scheme Manager), Amy Caves (Solicitor). Carmine 
Rabhani (Pay and Pensions Lead), Emily Purslow (Pension Coordinator), Graeme Hall 
(XPS Administration), Donna Linton (Governance and Corporate Planning Manager) 
 
1   APOLOGIES  

 
 Apologies for absence were received from Lee Shears (Employer) and Neil McElroy 

(Employee). 
 

2   DECLARATION OF INTERESTS  
 

 There were no declarations of interest received. 
 

3   NOTES FROM THE PREVIOUS MEETING  
 

 RESOLVED: That  
 
[1] the minutes of the Local Pension Board held on 17th March 2021 be 

confirmed as a correct record. 
 

4   FIREFIGHTER PENSION SCHEME UPDATE  
 

 The Pay and Pensions Lead presented a report which provided an overview of the 
current issues relating to the Firefighters’ Pension Schemes, including updates on 
the following:- 
 

- Membership Statistics 
- McCloud/Sargeant – Remedy and Immediate Detriment (Minute 5 refers) 
- Consultations 
- Internal Appointments 
- New Pensions Advice Website 
- FPS Member Website Launched on 20th May 2021 
- National Audit Office publish public service pensions report 
- Retirees Access to XPS Self Serve Portal 

 
The Pay and Pensions Lead advised that in terms of data trends the Membership 
Statistic figures for Quarter 1 2021-22 showed an increase in the percentage of staff 
who were in the pension scheme from 90.89% in March 2021 to 91.87% for the most 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



Minutes 
Local Pension Board - Firefighters Pension Scheme 

Wednesday, 11 August 2021 

 

2 
 

recent quarter. There had also been a corresponding slight decrease in the 
percentage of staff opting out of their scheme from 9.11% to 8.13%. The Chair 
queried the main reason for people opting out of a pension scheme. In response, a 
Board Member advised that this was normally due to affordability. The Pension 
Scheme Manager asked the Pay and Pensions Lead to research the age profile of 
those individuals opting out and report the finding to the next meeting. 
 
The Pay and Pensions Lead advised that when employees commence work with 
CFRS they automatically joined the appropriate pension scheme and it was an 
individuals preference if they wished to opt out of the scheme. When opting out the 
reason why was not requested. 
 
The Pay and Pensions Lead reported that since the last meeting a Pensions 
Manager had been appointed that was a permanent position and would work 
exclusively for Fire. The successful candidate was highly experienced, suitably 
qualified and had worked for the Service previously. It was expected that the new 
Pension Manager would commence work in October 2021. A temporary Pension 
Support Officer had also been appointed on a six month basis to assist specifically 
with the additional work created as a result of the McCloud/Sargeant case. 
 
The Board welcomed the fact that all retired members now had access to their 
individual pension accounts via the Self Serve Portal. It was anticipated that the 
direct access would reduce the number of enquires to both the pension team and 
XPS.  
 
RESOLVED: That 
 
[1] the Firefighter Pension Scheme Update be noted. 
 
[2] the Pay and Pension Lead to research the age profile of those 

individuals opting out of the pension scheme and report the findings to 
the next meeting of the Pension Board. 

 
5   MCCLOUD/SARGEANT JUDGEMENT UPDATE  

 
 The Solicitor provided an update on the McCloud/Sargeant Remedy and Immediate 

Detriment. (Paragraphs 3 to 15 in Item 4 – Firefighter Pension Scheme Update 
refers). 
 
The Pensions Board were reminded that prior to the government’s consultation 
response on 4th February 2021, the Home Office issued guidance to Fire and 
Rescue Authority’s (FRAs) on how to process prospective “immediate detriment” 
cases in advance of a decision relating to the Remedy  This guidance was published 
on 20th August 2020 and was not considered to be comprehensive. As such FRAs 
were advised to wait for further clarity before proceeding. On 10th June 2021 the 
Home Office issued revised informal Immediate Detriment Guidance.  The guidance 
was non-statutory and did not place legal obligation on FRAs.  However the 
guidance stated that FRAs do have “the power to calculate and pay pension 
entitlements for those members who fall within the immediate detriment category 

Page 2



Minutes 
Local Pension Board - Firefighters Pension Scheme 

Wednesday, 11 August 2021 

 

3 
 

under their legacy schemes, through the application of Section 61 of the Equality Act 
2010.”   
 
The Service had been reviewing this guidance with a view to determining how to 
deal with upcoming retirements whilst minimising the risk to the Authority and 
individual members.  The preferred strategy would be to wait until the National 
Framework had been agreed in conjunction with the Fire Brigades Union (FBU) 
however it was recognised that there were several pending retirements within CFRS 
at the current time, that if not actioned, may result in a degree of hardship.  In order 
to find a resolution for upcoming retirees in scope the Service had advised the FBU 
that they would consider immediate detriment payments on a case by case basis.   
 
The Pension Board were informed that monthly meetings were now take place 
between the Pension Scheme Manager, Senior HR Business Partner, legal advisor 
and the Service’s XPS Liaison Officer.  These have been valuable in identifying what 
needed to be put in place to enable the handling of Immediate Detriment cases.  
One of the requirements was the development of a set of principles around 
Immediate Detriment that was consistent with good governance. A review of XPS’s 
terms and charges would also be necessary and the Service was currently awaiting 
confirmation of this.  Graeme Hall from XPS Administration advised that the 
document detailing XPS terms and charges was currently with the legal team and 
would be made available in the next few weeks. 
 
In conclusion, on 19th July 2021, HM Treasury (HMT) introduced the Public Service 
Pensions and Judicial Offices Bill (PSP&JO Bill) to the House of Lords. The Bill sets 
out in law how the government will remove the discrimination identified by the courts 
in the way that the 2015 reforms were introduced for some members (i.e. remedy). 
 
RESOLVED: That 
 
[1] the report be noted. 
 

6   XPS ADMINISTRATION CHESHIRE FIRE SERVICE DELIVERY REPORT APRIL 
2020 TO MARCH 2021  
 

 The Operations Manager Graeme Hall from XPS Administration, was in attendance 
and presented the Service’s Performance Delivery Report for April 2020 to March 
2021. The report contained the following information:- 
 

- Regulations and guidance from April 2020 to June 2021 
- Headlines including additional work including:- Guaranteed Minimum Pension 

Reconciliation, McCloud and Member Self Service Letters to Pensioners 
- Complaints – no known complaints or IDRP cases for the period up to 20th 

June 2021 
- Membership Quarter 1 2021-22 
- Member Self Service Statistics 
- Common Data 
- Performance Charts from April 2020 to June 2021 

 

Page 3



Minutes 
Local Pension Board - Firefighters Pension Scheme 

Wednesday, 11 August 2021 

 

4 
 

The Pension Board were referred to the Performance Charts that showed 
performance against individual service level requirements. The table in the report 
highlighted the months where Service Level Agreement targets were not met and 
included narrative on the reason why. It was reported that in Quarter 4 six cases had 
been met outside target and this was due to XPS Administration training 6 new 
members of staff which had caused the delay. 
 
RESOLVED: That 
 
[1] the XPS Administration Cheshire Fire Service Delivery Report April 2020 

to June 2021 be noted. 
 

7   FIREFIGHTER PENSION SCHEME RISK REGISTER  
 

 The Pension Scheme Manager presented the Firefighter Scheme Risk Register (the 
Register) which had been reviewed and updated in July 2021. Updates since the last 
meeting were highlighted in blue in the document and an additional box had also 
been included within the Register showing arrows which identified the state of risk. 
 
The Pension Scheme Manager provided an update and clarity on the following 
risks:- 
 

- McCloud/Sargeant – Lack of resources to complete any remedy actions. This risk 
remained a red risk at this time. Additional resources had been obtained, 
however, the full extent of the work involved remained unclear until the remedy 
hearing take place and a date was yet to be set. 

 
- Loss of experienced/knowledgeable staff. This risk had been reduced to an amber 

risk. This was because 2 new posts had been established and recruited, namely a 
Pension Manager – permanent position dedicated to fire and a Pensions Support 
Officer – temporary 6 months. Once the staff had commenced work in October 
2021 it was likely that the risk would reduce further. 

 
- Excessive charges by the provider. The Board requested that the title of this risk 

was changed to ‘Transition of Costs’. 
 

- Failure to offer Split Pensions to all eligible staff at point of retirement. This risk 
remained green as there had been no further issues or complaints regarding split 
pensions. 

 
RESOLVED: That 
 
[1] the Firefighter Scheme Risk Register be noted. 
 
[2] the risk titled ‘Excessive charges by the provide’ be renamed on the 

Register to ‘Transition of Costs’. 
 
 
 

Page 4



Minutes 
Local Pension Board - Firefighters Pension Scheme 

Wednesday, 11 August 2021 

 

5 
 

8   SPLIT PENSIONS CASE STUDY  
 

 The Pension Scheme Manager reported that an outstanding action from the last 
meeting was to submit a case study on Split Pensions to the LGA for inclusion in 
one of the forthcoming pension newsletters. This had been requested by the LGA as 
the way in which split pensions issues had been resolved by Cheshire had been 
deemed to be an example of good practice and effective working with the Fire 
Brigades Union (FBU). The FBU had welcomed the suggestion of the case study 
and the Pension Scheme Manager had created the case study in close consultation 
with the FBU Branch Secretary, Andy Fox Hewitt.  
 
The Split Pension Case Study had been presented to the Pension Board’s for 
information prior to being submitted to the LGA. 
 
RESOLVED: That 
 
[1] the Split Pensions Case Study be noted. 
 

9   JCNP PENSIONS UPDATE  
 

 The Pension Scheme Manager reported that at the last meeting it was agreed that 
going forward there would be a ‘JCNP Pension Update’ standing agenda item. This 
would allow the Pension Scheme Manager to update the Pension Board on all 
pension issues that had been raised by either the Fire Brigade Union (FBU) or Fire 
Officers’ Association (FOA) at the JCNP. 
 
The Pension Scheme Manager advised that the last meeting of the JCNP had taken 
place held on 1st July 2021 and at this meeting an update was provided on the 
CFRS position on immediate detriment cases. JCNP were informed that the  Service 
were in receipt of the revised informal Immediate Detriment Guidance that had been 
published in June 2021 providing informal advice on processing immediate detriment 
cases in advance of the government introducing legislation to remove the unlawful 
age discrimination. The Service was prepared to consider the IDRPs on a case by 
case basis and if the circumstances were straightforward and fell within the remit of 
the latest guidance, then the Service would work with members and XPS in order to 
provide estimates and make payments. An article had been published in the July 
Alert magazine explaining the current situation to all staff and further updates would 
be published as when required to ensure all staff were updated. 
 
RESOLVED: That 
 
[1] the update be noted. 
 

10   PENSION BOARD TRAINING  
 

 The Pension Scheme Manager reported that Clair Alcock, LGA Senior Pensions 
Advisor was due to leave her position at the LGA at the end of September 2021and 
the LGA were looking to recruit internally to fill the position. 
 

Page 5



Minutes 
Local Pension Board - Firefighters Pension Scheme 

Wednesday, 11 August 2021 

 

6 
 

Currently, the LGA Pensions Team’s main focus was the McCloud/Sargeant 
Judgement. This meant all LGA pension board training sessions were being scaled 
back, however, the LGA had given a commitment to continue to provide the ‘annual 
wrap-up’ training session later in the year. It was anticipated that the LGA would be 
in a position to provide a bespoke training to Pension Boards in Spring 2022. 
 
The Governance and Corporate Planning Manager would contact the LGA Pension 
Team in late September/October to arrange the ‘annual wrap-up’ training session 
later in the year. 
 
RESOLVED: That 
 
[1] the update be noted. 
 
[2] the Governance and Corporate Planning Manager contact the LGA 

Pensions Team in October to arrange the LGA Annual Wrap-up Training 
Session. 

 

Page 6



 
 

 

 

 

Cheshire Fire 
Pension Board Report 
 

2021-2022 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 7

Agenda Item 4



 

 

Contents 
 
01 Overview  
 

02 Member Self Service 
 
03 Common Data 

 
04 Annual Benefit and Pension Saving Statements  
 

05 Completed Cases Overview  
 
06 Membership 

 
07 Completed Cases by Month 
 
08 Complaints 
 

 
 
 

 

Page 8



 

XPS Administration   Error! No text of specified style in document. 
 

Regulations and Guidance 

 

April 2021 
LGA issued FPS Bulletin 43 

Key points covered are:- 

 Updates on age discrimination 
 Remedy data collection guidance 

Action required 

 Top Up Grant 2021 – FRA’s should note the Home office deadline of 4th may for providing this information. 

LGA issued FPS Bulletin 44 

Key points covered are:- 

 FPS Remedy data collection tools. template and notes 

Action required 

 IDRP data collection required by 31st May 2021 – data supplied. 

May 2021 
XPS attended the North East Regional Group – Virtual 19th May 2021 

LGA issued FPS Bulletin 45 

Key points covered are:- 

 FPS Member website launched on 20th May 2021, www.fpsmember.org 

Action required 

 FRA’s to complete SAB remedy self-assessment survey by 30th June 2021 

June 2021 
The Home Office issued an update to the existing informal and non-statutory guidance on immediate detriment cases 
– 10th June 2021 

LGA issued FPS Bulletin 46 

Key points covered are:-  

 HM Treasury published two public consultations on 24th June 2021. The consultations seek views on proposals 
to changes to the cost control mechanism in public service pension schemes and the appropriate methodology 
for setting the discount rate used in scheme valuations.  

 LGA updated the information note for FRA’s following the release of the Home Office guidance on immediate 
detriment. 

 LGA’s factsheets have been updated in line with new limits or thresholds for 2021/22 
 

July 2021 

On 19 July 2021, HM Treasury introduced the Public Service Pensions & Judicial Offices Bill (PSP&JO Bill) to the House 
of Lords.  The PSP&JO Bill sets outs in law how the Government will remove discrimination identified by the courts in 
the way that the 2015 reforms were introduced for some members (i.e. remedy) 
 

01 Overview 

Page 9



 

XPS Administration   Error! No text of specified style in document. 
 

 

LGA issued FPS Bulletin 47 

Key points covered are:-  

 The introduction of the PSP&JO Bill  
 The results from the Pensions regulators’ 2020-21 Governance and Administration survey 

August 2021 
LGA issued FPS Bulletin 48 

Key points covered are:-  

 Home Office guidance has been published following the announcement of the introduction of Public Service 
Pensions & Judicial Offices (PSP&JO) Bill  

 Update from LGA on the PSP&JO Bill and what it means for the FPS 
 The SAB response to HMT consultations seeking proposals to reform the cost control mechanism in public 

service pensions 

September 2021 

The Public Service Pensions and Judicial Offices Bill received second reading in the House of Lords on 7th September 
and will now move to the committee stage (first sitting on 11th October 2021. 
LGA issued FPS Bulletin 49 

Key points covered are:-  

 Two pension award case study 
 Second reading of the PSP&JO Bill  

Post Quarter End 

 

Additional Work 
Guaranteed Minimum Pension Reconciliation 

Work is currently underway to outline the next steps in this process. This will include a final balance to the information 
held by HMRC and then calculation of any under, or over, payments that have resulted in a difference between the GMP 
figure held on the members record and that held by HMRC. 

McCloud 

Work is being finalised on the data collection and provision of benefits going forward. Information will be released as it 
becomes available. 

“In the Loop 4” has been issued, providing updates on progress in the McCloud Remedy and requirements from the Fire 
Authority. Further guidance will be issued as we get closer to the issuance of legislation that will provide Remedy for 
affected members. 

Member Self Service Letters to Pensioners 

During July 2021, correspondence was issued to all pensioners providing details on how to access Member Self Service.  

 

 

 
 Page 10



 

XPS Administration   Error! No text of specified style in document. 
 

  

Page 11



 

XPS Administration   Error! No text of specified style in document.  
 

 
  

02 Member Self Service 

Page 12



 

XPS Administration   Error! No text of specified style in document.  
 

 

Cheshire Fire   
      

Data Test 
Common data score     

Max Population 
Total 
Fails % OK 

NINO 2388 3 99.87% 
Surname 2388 0 100.00% 
Forename / Inits 2388 0 100.00% 
Sex 2388 0 100.00% 
Title 2388 1 99.98% 
DoB Present 2388 0 100.00% 
DJS 2388 0 100.00% 
Status 2388 0 100.00% 
Last Status Event 2388 2 99.92% 
Status Date 2388 23 99.04% 
No Address 2388 6 99.75% 
No Postcode 2388 10 99.58% 
Address (All) 2388 49 97.95% 
Postcode (All) 2388 52 97.82% 
Members with a Fail 2388 30 98.74% 
Members with Multiple Fails 2388 49 97.95% 

 

  

03 Common Data 

Page 13



 

XPS Administration   Error! No text of specified style in document. 
 

 

Annual Benefit Statement Production 

 
Pension Saving Statements 

 

  

Cheshire Fire (FPS)           
Annaul Benefit Statement - Statistics Year: 2021

Number %
Total active members at year end = 31/03 681
Not Due ABS 23 3.38%
Due ABS 658 96.62%
Due - Produced 627 95.29%
Due - Not Produced 31 4.71%

Not Produced - Detail Number % of Not Produced
1 - Scheme missmatch 0 0.00% 31
2 - Exclude Benefit Calculation indicator set 0 0.00%
3 - Re Employed Deferred 0 0.00%
4 - Career break Returned during reporting year 0 0.00%
5 - NO CARE contributions posted to record 3 9.68%
9 - Other 28 90.32%

Not Due ABS - Detail Number % of Not Due
6 - Leaver on return 23 100.00%
7 - Post Year End leaver (DOL pre ABS Run date) 0 0.00%
8 - Career Break 0 0.00%

04 Annual Benefit and Pension Savings 
Statements 

Page 14



 

XPS Administration   Error! No text of specified style in document. 
 

 

 

 
  

05 Completed Cases Overview 

Page 15



 

XPS Administration   Error! No text of specified style in document. 
 

 

 

Quarter 2 2021 - 2022

Scheme Actives ❶ Deferred ❹ Pensioner ❺ Widow ❻ Dependant �
Old - FPS 12 ▼ 63 ▼ 711 ▲ 113 ▼ 5 ▼
New - NFPS 12 - 230 ▲ 43 ▲ 3 - 0 -
CARE - 2015 639 ▲ 206 ▼ 9 - 2 - 0 -
Total 663 ▲ 499 ▼ 763 ▲ 118 ▼ 5 ▼

Quarter 1 2021 - 2022

Scheme Actives ❶ Deferred ❹ Pensioner ❺ Widow ❻ Dependant �
Old - FPS 13 ▼ 80 ▲ 709 ▼ 115 ▲ 6 -
New - NFPS 12 - 228 ▼ 42 ▲ 3 - 0 -
CARE - 2015 625 ▲ 207 ▼ 9 ▲ 2 - 0 -
Total 650 ▲ 515 ▼ 760 ▲ 120 ▲ 6 -
 
Quarter 4 2020-2021       
Scheme Actives Deferred Pensioner Widow Dependant 
Old – FPS 18 ▼ 79 ▼ 711 ▲ 113 ▲ 6 ▲ 

New – NFPS 12 ▼ 230 ▲ 40 ▲ 3 - 0 - 
CARE – 2015 613 ▲ 211 ▲ 7 - 2 - 0 - 
Total 643 ▲ 520 ▲ 758 ▲ 118 ▲ 6 ▲        

Quarter 3 2020-2021        

   

Scheme Actives Deferred Pensioner Widow Dependant 
Old – FPS 19 ▼ 80 - 708 ▲ 110 ▼ 5 ▼ 

New – NFPS 13 ▼ 228 ▼ 39 - 3 - 0 - 
CARE – 2015 605 ▼ 204 ▲ 7 - 2 - 0 - 
Total 637 ▼ 512 ▲ 754 ▲ 115 ▼ 5 ▼ 

 

06 Membership 

Page 16



 

XPS Administration   Error! No text of specified style in document. 
 

 

April 2021  

Service Days 
Minimum 

Target Cases 
Within 
Target 

Actual 
Performance 

Death in Service 5 100 0 0 0 
Death of a pensioner 5 100 0 0 0 
Deferred Benefits 10 90 0 0 0 
Divorce Cases 30 100 1 1 100 
Estimates 10 100 8 7 88 
General 10 100 4 4 100 
Processing new entrants 10 90 0 0 0 
Refunds 10 100 0 0 0 
Retirement Actual  10 100 0 0 0 
Retirement Options 10 100 1 1 100 
Transfers – in (Calculation) 10 90 3 3 100 
Transfers – in (Payment received) 10 90 0 0 0 
Transfers – Out (Calculation) 10 100 1 1 100 
Transfers – Out (Payment) 10 100 0 0 0 
Variations 10 90 12 11 92 

 
 

May 2021  

Service Days 
Minimum 

Target Cases 
Within 
Target 

Actual 
Performance 

Death in Service 5 100 0 0 0 
Death of a pensioner 5 100 1 1 100 
Deferred Benefits 10 90 0 0 0 
Divorce Cases 30 100 0 0 0 
Estimates 10 100 15 11 73 
General 10 100 4 4 100 
Processing new entrants 10 90 0 0 0 
Refunds 10 100 3 3 100 
Retirement Actual  10 100 0 0 0 
Retirement Options 10 100 2 2 100 
Transfers – in (Calculation) 10 90 1 1 100 
Transfers – in (Payment received) 10 90 1 1 100 
Transfers – Out (Calculation) 10 100 0 0 0 
Transfers – Out (Payment) 10 100 0 0 0 
Variations 10 90 8 8 100 

 
  

07 Completed Cases by Month 

Page 17



 

XPS Administration   Error! No text of specified style in document. 
 

 
 

June 2021  

Service Days 
Minimum 

Target Cases 
Within 
Target 

Actual 
Performance 

Death in Service 5 100 0 0 0 
Death of a pensioner 5 100 1 1 100 
Deferred Benefits 10 90 1 1 100 
Divorce Cases 30 100 0 0 0 
Estimates 10 100 3 3 100 
General 10 100 13 13 100 
Processing new entrants 10 90 7 7 100 
Refunds 10 100 0 0 0 
Retirement Actual  10 100 0 0 0 
Retirement Options 10 100 0 0 0 
Transfers – in (Calculation) 10 90 2 2 100 
Transfers – in (Payment received) 10 90 0 0 0 
Transfers – Out (Calculation) 10 100 0 0 0 
Transfers – Out (Payment) 10 100 0 0 0 
Variations 10 90 33 33 100 

 

July 2021  

Service Days 
Minimum 

Target Cases 
Within 
Target 

Actual 
Performance 

Death in Service 5 100 0 0 0 
Death of a pensioner 5 100 1 1 100 
Deferred Benefits 10 90 1 1 100 
Divorce Cases 30 100 0 0 0 
Estimates 10 100 1 1 100 
General 10 100 14 14 100 
Processing new entrants 10 90 4 4 100 
Refunds 10 100 0 0 0 
Retirement Actual  10 100 0 0 0 
Retirement Options 10 100 1 1 100 
Transfers – in (Calculation) 10 90 1 1 100 
Transfers – in (Payment received) 10 90 1 1 100 
Transfers – Out (Calculation) 10 100 0 0 0 
Transfers – Out (Payment) 10 100 0 0 0 
Variations 10 90 14 14 100 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 18



 

XPS Administration   Error! No text of specified style in document. 
 

August 2021  

Service Days 
Minimum 

Target Cases 
Within 
Target 

Actual 
Performance 

Death in Service 5 100 0 0 0 
Death of a pensioner 5 100 0 0 0 
Deferred Benefits 10 90 3 3 100 
Divorce Cases 30 100 0 0 0 
Estimates 10 100 3 3 100 
General 10 100 15 15 100 
Processing new entrants 10 90 2 2 100 
Refunds 10 100 0 0 0 
Retirement Actual  10 100 2 2 100 
Retirement Options 10 100 1 1 100 
Transfers – in (Calculation) 10 90 0 0 0 
Transfers – in (Payment received) 10 90 0 0 0 
Transfers – Out (Calculation) 10 100 0 0 0 
Transfers – Out (Payment) 10 100 0 0 0 
Variations 10 90 15 15 100 

 

September 2021  

Service Days 
Minimum 

Target Cases 
Within 
Target 

Actual 
Performance 

Death in Service 5 100 0 0 0 
Death of a pensioner 5 100 2 2 100 
Deferred Benefits 10 90 0 0 0 
Divorce Cases 30 100 2 2 100 
Estimates 10 100 3 3 100 
General 10 100 11 11 100 
Processing new entrants 10 90 1 1 100 
Refunds 10 100 0 0 0 
Retirement Actual  10 100 1 1 100 
Retirement Options 10 100 3 2 67 
Transfers – in (Calculation) 10 90 2 2 100 
Transfers – in (Payment received) 10 90 0 0 0 
Transfers – Out (Calculation) 10 100 0 0 0 
Transfers – Out (Payment) 10 100 0 0 0 
Variations 10 90 25 25 100 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Page 19



 

XPS Administration   Error! No text of specified style in document. 
 

There is a potential complaint following delay in applying an interfund transfer resulting in an Annual Allowance tax 
charge not being notified in the correct timeframes. XPS have recently been provided with the relevant data covering the 
Pension Input Periods and has provided details to the member on the tax now due. 

 
 

 

08 Complaints 
Full Name Description Date received 

Date 
completed 

Comment 

Nil return          
         

Page 20



 

 

 

 
Graeme Hall  
Operation Manager 
01642 030643 
 
 
 

XPS Pensions Group, XPS Pensions, XPS Group, XPS Administration, XPS Investment and XPS Transactions are the 
trading names of Xafinity Consulting Ltd, Punter Southall Ltd and Punter Southall Investment Consulting Ltd.  

XPS Administration is the trading name of PS Administration Ltd. 

Registration 
Xafinity Consulting Ltd, Registered No. 2459442. Registered office: Phoenix House, 1 Station Hill, Reading RG1 
1NB. Punter Southall Investment Consulting Ltd Registered No. 6242672,  
Punter Southall Ltd Registered No. 03842603, PS Administration Ltd Registered No. 9428346.  
All registered at: 11 Strand, London WC2N 5HR. All companies registered in England and Wales. 

Authorisation 
Punter Southall Investment Consulting Ltd (FCA Register number 528774) and  
Xafinity Consulting Ltd (FCA Register number 194270) are both authorised and  
regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority (FCA) for investment business. 

 

Page 21





 

CHESHIRE FIRE AND RESCUE SERVICE 
 

MEETING OF: LOCAL PENSION BOARD – FIREFIGHTERS  PENSION 
SCHEME  

DATE:  10 NOVEMBER 2021      
REPORT OF:  PENSION SCHEME MANAGER 
AUTHOR:  CARMINE RABHANI 
_____________________________________________________________ 
 

SUBJECT:  FIREFIGHTER PENSION SCHEME UPDATE 
_____________________________________________________________ 
 

Purpose of Report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to provide the Pension Board with an 

update on current issues relating to the Firefighters’ Pension Schemes 
and the local governance arrangements in place to ensure effective 
administration of the schemes. 
 

Information  
 
Membership Statistics 

 
2. Membership statistics are detailed in Appendix A. When comparing the 

data from Q2 with Q1 there do not appear to be any significant trends, 
the number of operational staff in a pension scheme has increased 
slightly from 91.87% to 91.98%.  

 
FPS Bulletin - Actions Arising 
 
3.  TPR scheme return. The return is due on 10th November and is on 

track to be submitted by the deadline – FPS Bulletin 48 
 
4.  The first stage of the process to register for the Managing Pension 

Schemes online service, which is replacing Pension Schemes Online in 
2022, has been completed by CFRS. No further action will be required 
by public sector employers until 2022 – FPS Bulletin 48 

 
Public Service Pensions and Judicial Offices Bill 
 
5. Further detailed guidance on the Public Service Pensions and Judicial 

Offices Bill has now been released including information about the 
background and detail of the bill, how the Bill will implement changes and 
the next steps following the Bill 

 
6. The LGA have provided their own summary update on this. This 

update is available in FPS Bulletin 48. 
 
 

Page 23

Agenda Item 5



 

7.  The Bill received its second reading in the House of Lords on 7 
September 2021. The Government is aiming for the Bill to receive 
Royal Assent in early 2022, but expects there to be a number of 
technical amendments to the Bill as it passes through Parliament. 

 
Consultations 
 
8.  The Government has now responded to the consultation regarding the 

cost control mechanism published in June 2021. The Government will 
proceed with all three reforms: 

 

- The cost control mechanism will adopt a reformed scheme only 
design: to remove any allowance for legacy schemes in the 
mechanism so it only considers past and future service in the 
reformed scheme 

- The cost corridor will be widened: from +/-2% to +/-3% of 
pensionable pay 

 
- An economic check will be introduced: linked to expected long-term 

GDP so that a breach of the mechanism (and therefore benefit 
changes) would only be implemented if it would still have occurred 
had long-term economic assumptions been considered. 

 

9.  The Scheme Advisory Board (SAB) have now responded to HMT’s  

consultation regarding the adjustment of the The Superannuation 
Contributions Adjusted for Past Experience (SCAPE) discount rate, 
published in June 2021. This consultation proposed changes to the timing 
of the review of the SCAPE rate to align with the scheme valuation cycle 
and also a request for feedback on the methodology used. The SAB 
support the proposals as they will lead to greater stability in the rate going 
forwards.  
 

HM Treasury Response to Committee of Public Accounts Committee 
Report 
 
10.  In June 2021 the Committee of Public Account Committee published a  

report recommending a number of actions for public service pension 

schemes.  

 

11.  HM Treasury (HMT) has now responded to this report and has 

accepted five out of the six recommendations, those being: 

- commission other government departments for analysis of the latest 
participation data for each public service scheme  

- work with departments to standardise data collection on 
participation rates, including whether it could be broken down by 
member characteristics  

- ask departments to update it on measures they are taking to 
improve participation among specific groups  

Page 24



 

- write to the Committee with an update in six months on the work to 
implement the McCloud judgment and to resolve the issues with the 
cost control mechanism  

- write to the Committee by the end of 2021 with an assessment of 
how it is meeting the objectives of the 2014 / 15 pension reforms 

 

12. HMT disagrees with the Committee’s conclusion that it has done little 
to  

identify and manage the differences in average pensions between 
genders and other groups. It argues that such differences are a 
function of past differences in earnings rather than in differences in 
pension provision itself. 
 

Change of LGA Fire Pensions Technical Lead 
 
13. Clair Alcock left her role as LGA Senior Pensions Advisor on 3rd 

September to become Head of Police Pensions for the NPCC. Claire 
Hey will be taking over the Fire Pensions Technical Lead role and the 
LGA will be recruiting to backfill Claire’s vacant technical advisor role. 

 
Risk Management Board 
 
14. A briefing paper was taken to the Risk Management Board on 12 

October outlining the risks associated with the McCloud/Sergeant 
remedy, in particular those risks relating to immediate detriment cases.  

 

15.  The risks relating to administration and mitigating actions are 
summarised below.   
 

Risk Mitigating action 

Lack of technical guidance in some 
areas, such as taxation, may mean 
that members have insufficient 
information to inform their decision.  
 
They may become liable to tax 
charges once guidance is finalised 
and their pension is reviewed.  

HMT are drafting a policy 
statement to cover treatment of 
retrospective annual and lifetime 
tax allowance breaches, tax relief 
on employee pension contributions 
and other tax related issues.  The 
HMT policy however is unlikely to 
be published for several months 
 
Members will be required to sign a 
declaration to indicate they 
understand the request they are 
making and the potential 
consequences of their decisions, 
and confirming they are aware of 
the need to seek independent 
advice 

Benefits may be calculated 
incorrectly due to the complexities 
associated with the contributions 
rates, taxation and the period of time 

The pension provider has 
committed that all calculations will 
be subject to secondary calculation 
as a means of checking the 

Page 25



 

over which recalculation of benefits 
need to be undertaken. 
 
Pension software not yet updated 
and therefore calculations will be 
more manual in nature. 

accuracy of the figures provided. 
 

The additional data that the pension 
provider will require to process 
immediate detriment cases will place 
additional strain on the in-house 
payroll and pensions team 
 
Despite securing funding for a 
temporary pensions administrator, 
the Service has been unable to 
recruit into the post due to the 
specialist nature of the role and skills 
shortages 

This will be partially mitigated by 
the recruitment of a new Pension 
Manager with previous experience 
of the Firefighter Pension Schemes 
and Cheshire Fire and Rescue 
Service.  
 
 

Risk of loss of historic HR, pay and 
pensions information which will be 
needed for ID calculations.   
 
Data pre-April 2010 is currently 
stored in a legacy HR system which 
is no longer supported and only 
accessible via a designated desktop 
PC.  

Work has commenced with the IT 
department to assess options for 
this data to be migrated into a 
format that is more accessible and 
secure on current systems that are 
monitored and maintained. 
 
 

Until pension software can be 
updated, Annual Benefit Statements 
will not contain the correct 
information. Software updates are 
not expected to be finalised in time to 
enable dual benefit statements for 
eligible members before October 
2023, presenting financial uncertainty 
and an inability for members to make 
informed decisions around retirement 
planning 
 

Members can still obtain estimates 
of benefits based on the current 
regulations so, for the foreseeable 
future, members will be able to 
base some of their planning 
around a worst case scenario.  
 
XPS are also in the process of 
developing a series of case studies 
to help illustrate the differences 
between the options.   
 

Currently most eligible firefighters 
only have to give one weeks notice. 
The risk is that firefighters would not 
give sufficient notice, which would 
make it difficult to achieve the 
timescales to undertake complex 
calculations and provide the 
necessary dual benefits statements.  

In a joint statement issued by the 
Service and FBU on 27 October 
2021, the Service have requested 
that employees wishing to retire 
under immediate detriment, give as 
much notice as possible, 
preferably 12 weeks, to allow for 
the additional work that is required. 

 
 
 
 

Page 26



 

 
Memorandum of Understanding - McCloud 
 
16. On 8 October 2021, the Local Government Association and Fire 

Brigades Union agreed a national framework for FRAs to follow when 
handling immediate detriment cases, called the Memorandum of 
Understanding (MoU). The MoU is included at Appendix B.   

 

17.  As the MoU is not legally binding, the Service intends to report to the 
Fire Authority’s Staffing Committee on 8 November 2021 to explain 
how it intends to work with FBU to deal with immediate detriment 
cases.  It expects the Committee to be supportive. 

 
18.  The Service and the FBU released a joint statement on 27 October 

2021 to all members updating them on the current position and next 
steps. A copy of the joint statement is at Appendix C.  

 
Split Pensions – Case Study 
 
19.  In 2019, the FBU raised a concern relating to ‘two pension’ awards, 

also known as split pensions.  Split pensions are applied where the 
member has suffered a reduction in pay, and ensures they are able to 
benefit from the higher rate of pay if they didn’t receive it within their 
final 3 years of service. 

 
20.  There was a concern that a number of members may not have had the 

split pension applied to their pension calculation, and as a result were 
receiving a lower pension and lump sum than they were entitled to.  

 
21.  Following an exercise to review and correct any pensions that were 

incorrect, Cheshire Fire and Rescue Service and the FBU produced a 
case study to raise awareness of split pensions. This case study was 
published by the LGA in FPS Bulletin 49 and is attached at Appendix 
D.  

 
22.  The LGA said it was “a strong example of partnership working between 

an FRA, their administrator, and a representative body, and also 
demonstrates thorough consideration of the Pension Regulator’s 
breach processes”. 

 
Pensions Team Resourcing 
 
23. The new Pensions Manager started on 25 October 2021. Although the 

role sits in the Joint Corporate Services team, this resource will be 
dedicated to Cheshire Fire.  The successful candidate brings with them 
previous experience of the firefighter pension schemes and knowledge 
of Cheshire Fire and Rescue Service.  

 
24. Additional funding has been obtained for a fixed term resource should 

the pension team need any further assistance. The Pensions Manager 
will assess workloads in the coming weeks to identify any pinch points 

Page 27



 

that may be experienced in the coming months, to determine where 
this funding can be best utilised.  

 
 
CONTACT: DONNA LINTON, CLEMONDS HEY, WINSFORD 
TEL: [01606] 868804 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS: 
 
LOCAL PENSIONS BOARD – FIREFIGHTER PENSION SCHEME – 
FIREFIGHTER PENSION SCHEME UPDATE (11 AUGUST 2021) 
 
LOCAL PENSIONS BOARD – FIREFIGHTER PENSION SCHEME – 
FIREFIGHTER PENSION SCHEME UPDATE (17 MARCH 2021) 
 

 
 

Page 28



Appendix A to Item 5 

Pension Board 

10 November 2021 

 

Quarter 2 2021/22 

 

Pensioner and Deferred Members 

 

Active Members 

 

Opted Out Members v Active Members 

 

Scheme Deferred Pensioner Widow Dependant 

1992 Scheme 63 711 113 5 

2006 Scheme 230 43 3 0 

2015 Scheme 206 9 2 0 

Total 499 763 118 5 

Scheme Actives 

1992 Scheme – Protected 12 1.90% 

1992 Scheme – Taper Protected 1 0.16% 

2006 Scheme – Protected 6 0.95% 

2006 Scheme – Taper Protected 1 0.16% 

2006 Modified Scheme – Protected 3 0.48% 

2006 Modified Scheme – Taper Protected 0 0.00% 

2015 Scheme 608 96.35% 

Total 631  

Scheme 
Operational 

Staff % of WT 

% of total 
operational 
employees 

Wholetime Active Members 400 95.92% 58.31% 

Wholetime Opted Out 17 4.08% 2.48% 

 
 % of On Call 

% of total 
operational 
employees 

On Call Active Members   231 85.87% 33.67% 

On Call Opted Out 38 14.13% 5.54% 

Total 686  100% 

   

Page 29



91.98% of operational employees are in a pension scheme. 8.02% are opted out.    

 

 

Membership by Age and Ethnicity 

 

Membership by Gender and Ethnicity 

 Gender Ethnicity 

 Female Male BME Not Known White 

Pension Scheme % % % % % 

1992 0 100 0 0 100.0 

2006 0 100 0 0 100.0 

Modified 0 100 0 0 100.0 

2015 9.70 90.30 2.63 2.46 94.91 

Opt Out 9.09 90.91 3.64 5.45 90.91 

Total in a scheme 92.18 91.96 88.89 83.33 92.31 

Total opted out 7.82 8.04 11.11 16.67 7.69 

 

Membership by Age 

 18-20 21-30 31-40 41-50 51+ 

Pension Scheme % % % % % 

1992 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 100.0 

2006 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 100.0 

Modified 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 100.0 

2015 0.49 19.24 30.76 38.82 10.69 

Opt Out 0.0 11.11 38.89 33.33 16.67 

Total in a scheme 100.0 95.12 89.47 93.28 90.72 

Total opted out 0.0 4.88 10.53 6.72 9.28 

 

 

 

 

Page 30



1 

Dated 8 October 2021 

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING 

Appendix B to Item 5 
Pension Board

 10 November 2021

Page 31



2 
 

PARTIES 

 

(1) Local Government Association of 18 Smith Square, Westminster, London, SW1P 3HZ (the 

LGA); and 

(2) Fire Brigades Union of Bradley House, 68 Coombe Rd, Kingston-upon-Thames, Surrey, KT2 

7AE (the FBU). 

1 BACKGROUND 

1.1 The LGA represents Fire & Rescue Authorities (FRAs) in England, Scotland, Wales and 

Northern Ireland in connection with the matters covered by this memorandum of understanding 

(MoU). 

1.2 The FBU is a trade union that represents firefighters and other employees employed by the 

FRAs (together the ‘Members’) who are affected by the matters covered by this MoU. 

1.3 The LGA (on behalf of the FRAs) and the FBU (on behalf of the Members) wish to record the 

basis on which they will collaborate with each other to ensure that Members who have (or will) 

suffer an “Immediate Detriment” (as described in para. 4.1 below) by reason of their retirement 

(or impending retirement), following the decision made by the Court of Appeal on 20 December 

2018 and the Employment Appeal Tribunal on 12 February 2021 in the Sargeant claims, are 

provided with a remedy as swiftly as possible.  

1.4 A framework (the Framework) and a timetable for providing a remedy for each affected 

Member is set out in Annex 1 and Annex 2 to this MoU, which the parties expect the FRAs and 

Members to adhere to. Nothing in the MoU shall be interpreted to mean that the FBU will not 

initiate or support legal proceedings on behalf of any Member whose case is not dealt with in 

accordance with the Framework or that timetable. 

1.5 The MoU only covers compensation relating to any shortfall in the pension commencement 

lump sum, pensions benefits and contributions payable to or payable by a Member (including 

issues relating to tax relief, interest and charges connected to those amounts) as set out in 

Annex 1. This MoU does not cover any additional remedies currently under consideration in the 

Employment Tribunal. 

1.6 In this MoU: 

1.6.1 references to a Member's Legacy Scheme are references to the pension scheme 

in which the Member was an active member on 31 March 2012; and 

1.6.2 references to the 2015 Scheme are references to the firefighters’ pension schemes 

in England, Wales and Scotland created under the Public Service Pensions Act 

2013. 

2 OBJECTIVES 

2.1 The parties acknowledge the importance of ensuring that Members who have suffered (or will 

suffer) an Immediate Detriment (as described in para. 4.1 below) receive compensation or are 

otherwise remedied now. They recognise that the Government has laid primary legislation 

before Parliament in the Public Service Pensions and Judicial Offices Bill (the Bill), and will 

make secondary legislation pursuant to the Bill (together, the Remedying Legislation) to 

provide the affected Members with a remedy for the discrimination found in the Sargeant claims. 

Page 32



3 
 

The parties believe that the Framework is consistent with the principles currently set out in the 

Bill. In particular, any compensation or remedy provided to Members under this MoU: 

2.1.1 amounts to “compensation” of the type anticipated by clause 211 of the Bill; and/or 

2.1.2 is to be taken into account when assessing whether the Member has: 

(a) “benefited from an immediate detriment remedy” for the purposes of clause 
29 of the Bill; and/or 

(b) been provided with a remedy under any scheme regulations of the type 
anticipated by clause 28 of the Bill 

(to avoid a situation where the Member receives additional recoveries under the Bill 
which have already been compensated for under this MoU). 

2.2 This MOU is separate from, and is not subject to or dependent on, any guidance issued in 
relation to “Immediate Detriment” before the Remedying Legislation comes into force. 

3 PRINCIPLES OF COLLABORATION 

3.1 The LGA will request that the FRAs, and the FBU will request that its Members, adopt the 

following principles: 

3.1.1 Collaborate and co-operate. To adhere to the Framework so that activities are 

delivered and actions taken as required; 

3.1.2 Act in a timely manner. Recognise the importance of moving things forward swiftly 

and responding accordingly to reasonable requests for support; and 

3.1.3 Act in good faith to support achievement of the objectives and adherence to these 

principles. 

4 IMMEDIATE DETRIMENT CASES IN SCOPE 

4.1 The Framework will apply to Immediate Detriment cases that have already arisen, or arise 

before the Remedying Legislation comes into force, namely cases for: 

4.1.1 Members who, at the date of this MoU, are employed by an FRA and: 

(a) become eligible to retire (for any reason, including ill-health) and draw any 

pension and/or lump sum benefit and want to have all their benefits paid from 

their Legacy Scheme (not the 2015 Scheme); or 

(b) do not qualify for a lower-tier (and therefore higher-tier) ill-health pension 

under the single pot ill-health retirement arrangement provided for in the 2015 

Scheme and are therefore left without an immediately payable pension, but 

would be entitled to such a pension under their Legacy Scheme 

(Category 1 cases);  

4.1.2 Members who, at the date of this MoU:  

 
1  In this MoU, references to clause numbers in the Bill refer to the clauses as numbered on the date when 

the MoU is signed. 

Page 33



4 
 

(a) have already retired (for any reason, including ill-health) and who are 

receiving a pension under the 2015 Scheme, and who wish to be treated as 

having retired as a member of their Legacy Scheme; or 

(b) have left the fire and rescue service and did not qualify for a lower-tier (and 
therefore higher-tier) ill-health pension under the single pot ill-health 
retirement arrangement provided for in the 2015 Scheme, and are therefore 
left without a pension in payment but would be entitled to such a pension 
under their Legacy Scheme 

(Category 2 cases). 

4.2 The Category 2 cases include the claims set out in High Court claim number QB-2021-000636, 
although the parties acknowledge that the claimants and the defendants in that claim will 
(subject to agreeing the position on legal costs) need to file a consent order recording any 
settlement achieved in accordance with the Framework set out in this MoU. 

5 FRAMEWORK 

5.1 The parties intend that the various issues that arise in relation to Category 1 and Category 2 

cases will be resolved in accordance with the Framework set out at Annex 1 to this MoU. 

5.2 The parties anticipate that the Remedying Legislation will provide a mechanism that will allow 

some matters to be dealt with more conveniently once it comes into force. These matters are: 

5.2.1 compensation for any tax relief foregone on the arrears of contributions payable by 

the Member (except for Category 1 cases where the contribution arrears can be 

processed through PAYE);  

5.2.2 interest payable by the Member on the arrears of contributions;  

5.2.3 interest payable to the Member on adjusted employee contributions under the 2006 

Scheme; and 

5.2.4 CETVs and added pension (for Category 1 cases). 

5.3 These matters (and only these matters) will be calculated and processed once the Remedying 

Legislation is in force. Where applicable, the way they will be dealt with until that point is 

reached is set out in Annex 1. The parties agree that the mechanism provided by the 

Remedying Legislation will be used to make the calculation and the amounts will be processed 

in accordance with the Remedying Legislation. 

5.4 The LGA and the FBU will encourage the relevant FRA and Member to document the agreed 

compensation or remedy in line with the template set out at Annex 3 to this MoU (the 

Compensation Record). This does not apply to the High Court claim referred to in para. 4.2 

above where the terms of any settlement will be recorded in a confidential settlement 

agreement attached to a consent order. 

5.5 The FBU agrees that it will not provide any financial or other support to Members who have 

received compensation or are otherwise remedied under the Framework to bring any court or 

tribunal proceedings relating to matters which have been (or are being) addressed under the 

Framework (or, in the case of those matters listed at para. 5.2 above, will be addressed under 

the Remedying Legislation). The FBU’s agreement does not apply, however, to any question 

or dispute as to whether the Framework has been applied correctly in accordance with this 

MoU, or to any question or dispute regarding a matter that is not covered by the Framework. 

Page 34

07$23821
Inserted Text
  Do we have a list of these people?



5 
 

6 CONCERNS OR COMPLAINTS 

6.1 If either party has any issues, concerns or complaints about any matter in this MoU that party 

shall notify the other party and the parties shall then seek to resolve the issue through 

discussion (consistent with the objectives and principles set out at paras. 2 and 3 above). Those 

discussions may involve the relevant FRA and Member where appropriate.  

6.2 Either party may terminate such discussions at any time. Where it has been agreed that the 

Framework is being used, the fact that such discussions could be commenced or have been 

commenced will not act as an impediment to any Member who alleges that the FRA concerned 

is not dealing with their case in accordance with the Framework and seeks relief from the Court. 

Nor will it act as an impediment to the FBU providing legal or other support to such a Member. 

7 REVIEW, TERM AND TERMINATION 

7.1 This MoU shall commence on the date of signature by both parties. 

7.2 The parties will meet periodically on dates to be agreed between them (the first such meeting 

to take place within five weeks of the date of this MoU) to: 

7.2.1 review the application of the Framework and the process set out in Annex 2, paying 
attention, in particular, to the timetable for processing cases in the light of the 
number of cases being dealt with by FRAs; and 

7.2.2 discuss whether any changes to the Framework are needed if the passage of the 
Bill (and the secondary legislation made pursuant to the Bill) adversely affects the 
ability of an FRA or a Member to implement the Framework and/or the process set 
out in Annex 2 and work in a spirit of cooperation to agree those changes. 

7.3 If, on the date Remedying Legislation applicable to an issue set out in Annex 1 comes into 

force, a case that includes that issue is still being processed under the Framework, that issue 

will instead be processed under the Remedying Legislation and that fact will be noted in the 

Compensation Record (Annex 3). For the avoidance of doubt the rest of the issues in the case 

will be dealt with in accordance with Annex 1.  

7.4 If all of the issues relevant to a case are covered by Remedying Legislation which has come 
into force before a Compensation Record is signed by the Member and the FRA that case will 
instead be processed under the Remedying Legislation. 

7.5 This MoU will automatically expire on the last date on which Remedying Legislation applicable 
to all of the issues set out in Annex 1 comes in to force and will in any event expire on 1 October 
2023. However, the parties agree that the timeframes set out in Annex 2 will continue to apply 
to the issues set out in Annex 1 where those issues are being processed under the Remedying 
Legislation provided that the timeframes do not put an FRA in breach of its obligations under 
the Remedying Legislation.  

7.6 This MoU may be terminated (in whole or in part) by agreement in writing between the parties.  

7.7 This MoU may be terminated by either party if the other party is in serious or repeated breach 

of its terms, and does not remedy the breach within 21 days of notice being given requiring it 

to do so. 

8 VARIATION 

8.1 This MoU, including Annexes 1, 2 and 3, may only be varied by written agreement of the parties. 

Page 35



6 
 

9 CHARGES AND LIABILITIES 

9.1 Liability for the legal costs incurred in High Court claim number QB-2021-000636 will be 

payable in accordance with any agreement reached between the parties to that claim or any 

order made by the Court in those proceedings. 

9.2 Subject to para 9.1, and except as otherwise provided, the parties, FRAs and Members shall 

each bear their own costs and expenses incurred in agreeing to and implementing this MoU 

and the Framework. 

9.3 Each party shall remain liable for any losses or liabilities incurred due to their own actions and 

neither party intends that the other party shall be liable for any loss it suffers as a result of this 

MoU. 

10 STATUS 

10.1 This MoU is not intended to be legally binding, and no legal obligations or legal rights shall arise 

between the parties from this MoU. The parties enter into the MoU intending to honour all their 

obligations. 

10.2 Nothing in this MoU is intended to, or shall be deemed to, establish any partnership or joint 

venture between the parties, constitute either party as the agent of the other party, or authorise 

either of the parties to make or enter into any commitments for or on behalf of the other party. 

11 GOVERNING LAW AND JURISDICTION 

11.1 This MoU shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of England and 

Wales and, without affecting the procedure set out in para. 6, each party agrees to submit to 

the non-exclusive jurisdiction of the courts of England and Wales. 

Page 36



7 
 

 

Signed by JEFF HOUSTON 

for and on behalf of the LGA 

....................................... 

HEAD OF PENSIONS 

…………………………… 

[Date] 

 

Signed by MATT WRACK 

for and on behalf of the FBU 

 

....................................... 

GENERAL SECRETARY 

8 October 2021 

 

 

CONTACT POINTS  

LGA  

Name: Gill Gittins 

Office  18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 

3HZ 

Tel No: 07775 538917 

E-mail Address: FireQueries@local.gov.uk 

 

FBU  

Name: Mark Rowe 

Office  Bradley House, Coombe Road, 

Kingston-upon-Thames, KT2 

7AE 

Tel No: 07834 656090 

E-mail Address: Mark.Rowe@fbu.org.uk  

8th October 2021

Page 37

mailto:FireQueries@local.gov.uk
mailto:Mark.Rowe@fbu.org.uk


8 
 

ANNEX 1 – FRAMEWORK 

 

Issue Category 1 cases Category 2 cases 

Shortfall in retirement lump sum and past pension 
payments 

Retirement lump sum and benefits paid on 
retirement through Legacy scheme (so that no 
shortfall arises). 

Pay as lump sums (comprising pension lump sum 
and arrears lump sum likely made in two payments) 
through the 1992 scheme (as arrears). Pension 
arrears will be subject to PAYE, but if any 
additional income tax is payable by the member 
that would not have been payable if the member 
had never been treated as a member of the 2015 
Scheme, the FRA will compensate the member for 
that tax liability. 
 

Interest on shortfall in retirement lump sum and 
past pension  payments 

No interest due because correct lump sum and 
pension benefits will be paid on retirement. 

Interest paid at 3% p.a. simple, from the date 
lump sum / benefits should have been paid. 
 

Employee contributions: 1992 Scheme Member pays shortfall (since 2015) through pay   or 
as a deduction from retirement lump sum. 

Member pays any shortfall (since 2015) as a 
deduction from retirement lump sum. If no lump sum 
is payable, the member will need to pay any 
contributions owed from their own resources and to 
be given a reasonable time to pay based on their 
individual circumstances. 
 

Employee contributions: 2006 Scheme Compensation for excess contributions to be paid 
on retirement. Amount paid will be FRA’s best 
estimate of an amount equivalent to the net 
contributions paid by the member. 

FRA to pay compensation for excess contributions. 
Amount paid will be FRA’s best estimate of an 
amount equivalent to the net contributions paid by 
the member. 

Tax relief on employee contributions Process through PAYE to the extent possible if 
time/amount allows. If time does not allow, then any 
tax relief not collected through PAYE will be calculated 
and paid when the remedying legislation is in force. 

 
FBU and FRAs will encourage members to give as 
much notice of retirement as possible to facilitate 
payment through PAYE. 

Compensation for any tax relief foregone will be 
paid to the individual when the remedying 
legislation is in force. So, for now, individuals will 
pay the gross amount of contributions due. 
 
 

P
age 38

07$23821_1
Cross-Out

07$23821_2
Inserted Text
Have the LGA & FBU taken tax advice on this. Usually if someone is reimbursed/compensated for a personal tax liability, this compensation in itself becomes liable to tax

07$23821_3
Inserted Text
If best estimate is needed, will just need to use either 20 or 40% tax relief

07$23821_4
Cross-Out

07$23821_5
Inserted Text
Could deduct in full and key in a balancing loan amount and then deduct net amount due from lump sum 



9 
 

Interest payable on adjusted employee contributions 
(1992 Scheme) 

Interest to be paid by the individual once the 
remedying legislation is in force (and at the rate 
specified in directions made under that legislation). 
If tax relief was not processed through PAYE 
(because time/amount did not allow), where the 
individual is due to receive a future payment to 
compensate him or her for the tax relief foregone, 
the interest amounts will be deducted from that 
payment. 
 

Interest to be paid by the individual once the 
remedying legislation is in force (and at the rate 
specified in directions made under that legislation). 
Where the individual is due to receive a future 
payment to compensate him or her for the tax relief 
foregone, the interest amount  will be deducted from 
that payment. 
 
 

Interest payable on adjusted employee contributions 
– compensatory amount (2006 Scheme) 

Interest to be paid to the individual once the 
remedying legislation is in force (and at the rate 
specified in directions made under that legislation). 

Interest to be paid to the individual once the 
remedying legislation is in force (and at the rate 
specified in directions made under that legislation). 

Contribution holidays: excess employee 
contributions 

Compensation for excess contributions to be paid 
on retirement. Amount paid will be FRA’s best 
estimate of an amount equivalent to the net 
contributions paid by the member. 

FRA to pay compensation for excess contributions. 
Amount paid will be FRA’s best estimate of an 
amount equivalent to the net contributions paid by 
the member. 

CETVs and added pension If an issue arises, then look at it at that point. 
Individual and FRA will work together to agree a 
holding compromise that the CETV/added pension 
will stay in the 2015 scheme until the legislative 
solution arrives. 
 

Deal with as and when arises. 

Annual Allowance charges Recalculate pension input amount for each year of 
remedy.  
 
If an annual allowance charge would have arisen if 
the individual had not been transferred to the 2015 
Scheme, the charge remains payable by the 
member (through scheme pays or otherwise). 
 
If an annual allowance charge would not have 
arisen (or a lesser charge applied)  if the member 
had not transferred to the 2015 Scheme, the 
member will pay that charge and the FRA will 
compensate the member for the annual allowance 

Recalculate pension input amount for each year of 
remedy.  
 
If an annual allowance charge would have arisen if 
the individual had not been transferred to the 2015 
Scheme, the charge remains payable by the 
member (through scheme pays or otherwise). 
 
If an annual allowance charge would not have 
arisen (or a lesser charge applied)   if the member 
had not transferred to the 2015 Scheme, the 
member will pay that charge and the FRA will 
compensate the member for any annual allowance 

P
age 39

07$23821_6
Inserted Text
Offsetting the interest against the tax refund may not be possible. It will be dependent on how HMRC decide to deal with the tax relief. In previous pension exercises such as the pension contribution holiday, it was a bulk exercise which wasn't handled by the employer.

07$23821_7
Inserted Text
Have HMRC been consulted on this document? Any cash payment made to employees is usually liable to PAYE, unless there is a specific exemption for it in the legislation

07$23821_8
Inserted Text
Para 5.3 says that CETVs and added pension will not be dealt with until the remedying legislation comes into force. This is somewhat contradictory as it implies some action can be taken



10 
 

charge that is demanded (or any excess over the 
lesser charge that would have applied).  
 

charge that is demanded  (or any excess over the 
lesser charge that would have applied).  
  
 

Scheme pays (MSP/VSP) Member pays tax through VSP for statutory tax 
years for which it becomes due. 

Member pays tax through VSP for statutory tax 
years for which it becomes due. 
 

Converting scheme pays debits FRA to recalculate the pension debit as if taken at 
time of original scheme pays election using actuarial 
factors applicable at time. 

FRA to recalculate the pension debit as if taken at 
time of original scheme pays election using actuarial 
factors applicable at time. 

Converting pension sharing debits Deal with on a case by case basis as issues arise. Deal with on a case by case basis as issues arise. 

Dependents Deal with on a case by case basis as issues arise 
(and in accordance with the timeframes set out in 
Annex 2 where reasonably practicable).  

Deal with on a case by case basis as issues arise 
(and in accordance with the timeframes set out in 
Annex 2 where reasonably practicable). 

Taper members Tapering to stop (because that is the only step that 
is consistent with the ET decision). 

Tapering to stop (because that is the only step that 
is consistent with the ET decision). 

Unauthorised payments N/A The FRA will compensate the member for 
unauthorised payment charges which the member 
has had to pay and which he or she would not 
have had to pay if the member had not transferred 
to the 2015 Scheme. 
 

P
age 40

07$23821_9
Cross-Out

07$23821_10
Inserted Text
Again where do we stand from a tax perspective if we pay someone a cash amount for a pecuniary liability?

07$23821_11
Cross-Out

07$23821_12
Inserted Text
This would need to be done by XPS

07$23821_13
Cross-Out

07$23821_14
Inserted Text
Where do we stand on this from a tax perspective?



1 

M-23958064-1 

 

ANNEX 2 – THE PROCESS 

1 Any Member who believes that he or she is a Category 1 or a Category 2 case, and any person who 

believes that he or she is a dependant of a Category 1 or a Category 2 case Member (‘an Applicant’), 

may give notice to the FRA which last employed the Member concerned requiring the FRA to 

investigate their case. Any such notice must be given in writing (by post or by email). 

2 Within 14 days of receipt, the FRA shall acknowledge receipt of any such notice in writing (by post or 

by email), and inform the Applicant: 

2.1 either that the FRA accepts that the Applicant is entitled to a remedy under the Framework; or 

2.2 explain why, in the FRA’s view, the Applicant is not entitled to a remedy under the Framework. 

3 If the FRA accepts that the Applicant is entitled to a remedy under the Framework, as soon as 

reasonably practicable and in any event within 62 days after receiving an application under paragraph 

1, the FRA shall send to the Applicant: 

3.1 In a Category 1 Case: 

3.1.1 a statement of the benefits that the Member would be entitled to receive if he or she retires 

under the rules of the Member’s Legacy Scheme;  

3.1.2 a statement of the benefits that the Member would be entitled to receive if he or she retires 

under the rules of the 2015 Scheme; and,   

3.1.3 a form inviting the Applicant to choose to take benefits in accordance with the rules of the 

2015 Scheme or the Member’s Legacy Scheme.  

3.2 In a Category 2 Case: 

3.2.1 a statement of the benefits that the Member would have received if he or she had retired 

under the rules of the Member’s Legacy Scheme, calculated as at the date of retirement 

or, in the case of a Member who left employment without an immediate pension, as at the 

date of leaving;  

3.2.2 a statement of the benefits that the Member received or was prospectively entitled to 

receive under the rules of the 2015 Scheme, calculated as at the date of retirement or, in 

the case of a Member who left employment without an immediate pension, as at the date 

of leaving; 

3.2.3 a statement of the arrears of pension and lump sum that the FRA will pay if the Applicant 

chooses to take benefits under the terms of the Member’s Legacy Scheme; 

3.2.4 a statement of the arrears of contributions that will have to be paid or that will be reimbursed 

(if any) if the Applicant chooses to take benefits under the terms of the Member’s Legacy 

Scheme; 

3.2.5 a statement of any tax adjustments that will have to be made if the Applicant chooses to 

take benefits under the terms of the Member’s Legacy Scheme (including details of any 

“scheme pays” election that the Applicant might be able to make); and 

Page 41

07$23821_15
Cross-Out

07$23821_16
Inserted Text
Including any tax charges applicable

07$23821_17
Cross-Out

07$23821_18
Inserted Text
Including any tax charges applicable



2 

M-23958064-1 

3.2.6 a form inviting the Applicant to choose to take benefits in accordance with the rules of the 

2015 Scheme or the Member’s Legacy Scheme.  

4 If the Member’s entitlements under their Legacy Scheme cannot be determined without further medical 

advice, the period between the date of the request for further medical advice and the date when that 

advice is received shall be ignored for the purposes of the timetable set out in paragraphs 2 and 3 

above.  

5 Once the FRA receives notice of the Applicant’s election, and if the Applicant chooses to receive 

benefits under the rules of the Member’s Legacy Scheme: 

5.1 In a Category 1 Case, the Applicant’s entitlements shall be progressed as “business as usual”. 

5.2 In a Category 2 Case, the FRA shall: 

5.2.1 adjust the Applicant’s pension debit if required to allow for any “scheme pays” election that 

the Applicant makes on account of any annual allowance charge that would have arisen if 

the Member had never been treated as a Member of the 2015 Scheme; 

5.2.2 begin to pay benefits in accordance with the Legacy Scheme rules with effect from the next 

pension payroll date which is at least one month after the receipt of the Applicant’s election; 

5.2.3 as soon as reasonably practicable and in any event within 28 days after receipt of the 

Applicant’s election, pay to the Applicant the arrears of pension and lump sum, calculated 

under 3.2.3 above and rolled forward to the date of payment, with interest calculated in 

accordance with the Framework to the date of payment, plus compensation for any excess 

contributions paid, after deducting:  

(a) any arrears of contributions calculated under 3.2.4 above; and 

(b) any additional tax required to be paid under PAYE on arrears of pension that would 

have arisen if the Member had never been treated as a Member of the 2015 Scheme. 

If the deductions to be made under paragraph 5.2.3(a) and (b) exceed the arrears to be paid under 

5.2.3, the FRA shall not be obliged to begin to pay benefits under the Legacy Scheme rules in 

accordance with 5.2.2 until a reasonable schedule for payment of the excess has been agreed 

between the Applicant and the FRA. 

6 In a Category 2 case, no further action is required if the Applicant chooses to continue to receive 

benefits under the Rules of the 2015 Scheme. 

7 Until the Applicant makes an election under paragraph 3.1.3 or 3.2.6, no further action is required. 

8 Giving effect to the Applicant’s election under paragraph 3.1.3 or 3.2.6 to receive benefits calculated 

in accordance with the Legacy Scheme rules shall be conditional on the Applicant signing and 

returning a settlement agreement substantially in the form of the record of agreed compensation and 

remedy set out in Annex 3 to the MoU. 

9 The member and an FRA’s commitment to adhere to the process and timeframes as set out above is 

in consideration of the Principles of Collaboration and the ongoing review of the Framework as 

provided for at clauses 3 and 7.2 of the MoU respectively. 

 

Page 42



1 

M-23958064-1 

ANNEX 3 – RECORD OF AGREED COMPENSATION / REMEDY 

 

I [NAME OF MEMBER] have agreed with [NAME OF FRA] in its capacity as both an employer and scheme 

manager to receive compensation and/or a remedy in line with the framework set out in the MoU dated [DATE] 

between the LGA (on behalf of FRAs) and the FBU (on behalf of its members). 

 

I am a “Category [1/2]” case. 

 

I understand and agree that: 

 

- the Government has proposed to make new legislation that is intended to provide me with the pension 

benefits that I could have received if the pension changes made in 2015 had not been made, but that 

new legislation may not come into force until October 2023; 

   

- some of the issues relating to my pension benefits have not been fully resolved and will not be fully 

resolved until the new legislation comes into force in October 2023, and as a consequence some 

payments (including tax relief and some interest amounts) might be calculated and processed once 

the new legislation comes into force. These issues are noted in the table below; 

 

- The compensation I have received will be taken into account for the purposes of the new legislation 

(to avoid a situation where I receive additional amounts under the new legislation which have already 

been compensated for under the agreed framework); 

 

- I understand that survivor benefits under the 1992 Firefighters Pension scheme are payable only to a 

legal spouse or civil partner, meaning a partner with whom I have entered into a formal registered civil 

partnership. If I choose to receive benefits under the rules of the Firefighters’ Pension Scheme 1992 

and I am unmarried and not in a civil partnership at the date of my death then a survivor’s pension will 

not be payable;  

- The decision I make to receive benefits under the rules of the Firefighters’ Pension Scheme 1992/ 

Firefighters’ Pension Scheme 2006/ Firefighters’ Pension Scheme 2015 [delete as applicable] is 

irrevocable.  Neither I nor my dependants will be given an option to reconsider this decision once the 

new legislation comes into force; 

 

- The way in which the issues relevant to my case are dealt with under the framework (as noted in the 

table below) amounts to a full and final settlement of my claim. I will not commence or continue any 

court or tribunal proceedings against [NAME of FRA] (in its capacity as employer or pension scheme 

manager) in relation to any matters that are covered by this agreement (other than a failure to abide 

by the terms of this agreement); and  

 

The issues in my case have or will be addressed as follows: 

 

[PARTIES TO INSERT RELEVANT ROWS FROM THE ANNEX 1 FRAMEWORK TABLE WITH AN 

ADDITIONAL COLUMN TO DOCUMENT THE ACTUAL PAYMENT, ADJUSTMENT AND/OR RECORD 

ALTERATION MADE FOR EACH SPECIFIC ISSUE FOR THAT MEMBER.] 

 

Signed by [NAME of MEMBER] on [DATE] 

 

Signed by [NAME] on behalf of [FRA] on [DATE] 

Page 43





  FIREFIGHTERS PENSIONS UPDATE 

   IMMEDIATE DETRIMENT 

The Service and the Fire Brigades Union (FBU) met on 21 October 2021 to discuss 

how we intend to progress the handling of immediate detriment cases. 

As a reminder, the term “Immediate Detriment” covers two categories of people that 

have been discriminated against, and who have lost out, or will lose out, due to the 

way their pensions have been, or will be calculated.   

Employees in Cheshire affected under the terms of the McCloud/Sergeant 

judgement can be categorised under the following: 

Category 1 cases 

Members who at the date of the agreement are employed by CFRS and: 

a. Become eligible to retire for any reason, including ill-health, and draw their

pension and want to have all their benefits paid from the Firefighter’s Pension

Scheme 1992 or the Firefighter’s Pension Scheme 2006 (not the 2015

Scheme); or

b. Do not qualify for a lower-tier or higher-tier ill-health pension under the 2015

Scheme and are therefore left without an immediately payable pension, but

would be entitled to such a pension under the Firefighter’s Pension Scheme

1992 or the Firefighter’s Pension Scheme 2006.

Category 2 cases 

Members who, at the date of the agreement: 

a. Have already retired (for any reason, including ill-health) and who are

receiving a pension under the 2015 Scheme, and who wish to be treated as

having retired as a member of the Firefighter’s Pension Scheme 1992 or the

Firefighter’s Pension Scheme 2006; or

b. Have left the fire and rescue service and did not qualify for a lower-tier or

higher-tier ill-health pension under the 2015 Scheme and are therefore left

without a pension in payment, but would be entitled to such a pension under

the Firefighter’s Pension Scheme 1992 or the Firefighter’s Pension Scheme

2006.

If you are in any of these categories you may be entitled to an immediate pension or 

an increased pension. While all remedying legislation is not expected to be in place 

until October 2023, under the FBU/LGA MoU Framework agreement, once Cheshire 

Appendix C to Item 5 
Pension Board

10 November 2021

Page 45



Fire Authority has decided to adopt the MoU framework, it sets out the process to  

consider your case and take any corrective action. 

The meeting with Cheshire FBU followed the recent announcement that the FBU and 

Local Government Association had agreed a Memorandum of Understanding which 

is intended to allow Fire Authorities to deal with immediate detriment cases.   

The Memorandum of Understanding includes a framework that describes how 

immediate detriment cases should be handled.  As the MOU is not legally binding, 

the Service intends to report to the Fire Authority’s Staffing Committee on 8 

November 2021 to explain how it intends to work with FBU to deal with immediate 

detriment.  It expects the Committee to be supportive.  

The Service will obviously accept applications from those individuals already in 

receipt of their pension and also from individuals that have confirmed an impending 

retirement date.  However, the Service is not yet in a position to confirm the 

processes and timescales outlined in the MOU, although it is working towards this 

and once agreement has been reached locally we will provide an update with 

anticipated timescales.     

Due to the complexity of immediate detriment cases, and the fact that the software 

has not yet been configured to calculate benefits in this way, the calculations will 

need to be manually prepared.  To this end the Service is in discussion with its 

pension provider to establish how immediate detriment cases can be handled 

accurately and efficiently.  It is also really important that correspondence with those 

affected is as clear as possible and this is part of the discussion.  Further information 

will be provided as the situation becomes clearer, including an explanation about the 

process and timescales associated with it. 

It will be important for those affected by immediate detriment to have time to make 

an informed decision and where required the opportunity to seek advice  

The Service and the FBU have committed to meeting regularly to review the situation 

and to work together in the best interests of all staff and retirees affected. 

If you have any questions, please email payroll.pensions@cheshirefire.gov.uk or 

contact Jill Swift, Pensions Manager at jill.swift@cheshire.police.uk or FBU members 

can contact the FBU Secretary at Andrew.fox-hewitt@fbu.org.uk  

 

                                                                         Andrew Fox-Hewitt 
Andrea Harvey      Andrew Fox-Hewitt 

Director of Transformation    FBU Secretary 

Page 46

mailto:payroll.pensions@cheshirefire.gov.uk
mailto:jill.swift@cheshire.police.uk
mailto:Andrew.fox-hewitt@fbu.org.uk


Two Pension Award Case Study 

Two pension awards, or “Split pensions”, were introduced in 2007 following a change 

in the regulations.  The regulations allow retiring members to treat what is essentially 

the same pension in different ways to ensure the benefits payable are maximized. 

Entitlement to two pensions occurs when there is a drop in pay before a person is 

moved to the Firefighters’ Pension Scheme 2015 (FPS 2015), or where the person is 

a protected member of either FPS 1992 or FPS 2006.  

The entitlement to two pensions occurs when a person suffers a reduction to the 

amount of pensionable pay on a) taking up a different role (for example leaving a day 

crewing system or department with an allowance attached, reverting from a 

temporary promoted role or b) becoming entitled to a different rate of pay in the 

existing role.  This is beneficial because it ensures that benefits can be assessed on 

the highest level of pay in a firefighting career.   

In early 2019, at a regional fire pensions officers group meeting, discussions took 

place regarding the calculation of split pensions.  Shortly afterwards a query was 

raised by the Fire Brigades Union (FBU) on behalf of some their members regarding 

their entitlement to a split pension.   

At that time, it became evident that there was limited awareness and understanding 

of split pensions in respect of eligibility and after checking records there was a 

concern that some retired members may not have been made aware of their 

eligibility.  The FBU held the same concern and it was agreed that the Service would 

work closely with the FBU to identify and resolve any cases where the correct 

pension had not been paid.   

Three initial cases were identified and following notification of this, the Service 

commissioned their third-party pension administrator to carry out a detailed exercise 

to review the calculations and pension entitlements for all retirees since April 2007 

when the regulations were amended.  Although this was a very complex and detailed 

exercise and took approximately six months to complete, it provided the necessary 

information to identify any cases and enabled the Service to ensure that all members 

entitled to a split pension were in receipt of the correct pension entitlement.   

At the same time to identify how cases may have been overlooked, the Service 

reviewed its own internal processes and associated documentation.  This was to 

ensure that going forward all information relevant to split pension eligibility was 

explicit and obvious to the administrator and the appropriate checks and balances 

were in place to prevent any future instances in relation to split pensions. 

During the period of review the Pension Scheme Manager kept the FBU apprised of 

progress and in turn the FBU ensured that their members were aware that the review 

Appendix D to Item 5
Pension Board

10 November 2021

Page 47



 

had been commissioned and in progress. During the period of the review the initial  

three cases that had been identified were resolved.    

Upon conclusion of the detailed exercise a further three individuals who could have 

taken advantage of the split pension out of a total 352 retirees were identified.  Of 

the three, two individuals were in scope to incur tax charges as a result of the time 

that had elapsed since their retirement.   

Having identified these cases, the Pension Scheme Manager briefed the FBU and 
the three retirees in scope were contacted immediately.  Within weeks their pensions 
were reinstated and they were paid arrears of pension, arrears of lump sum and the 
Service picked up the unauthorised tax charges.  All three individuals who had not 
been aware of their split pension eligibility stated their appreciation and 
acknowledged the way in which the Service and the FBU had worked so effectively 
together to identify, review, and resolve the issue.  
 

With a total of six retirees not being offered a split pension at the point of retirement, 

consideration was given as to whether this constituted a breach of the pension 

regulations.  Both the FBU and the Service were in agreement that it did constitute a 

breach but in order to evaluate the extent of the breach the Pension Scheme 

Manager undertook a breach assessment using the Pension Regulator’s Breach 

Assessment Traffic Light Framework.   

After presenting this for discussion with the FBU and the Local Pension Board, the 

recommendation put forward by the Service was that it did not constitute a “material” 

breach.  This was based on the small number of people affected, the prompt action 

taken to resolve the issues, and the changes made to prevent a future occurrence.  It 

was considered that this was an issue pertaining only to the notification of split 

pension eligibility and underpayment on a small number of cases, and therefore 

there was no evidence to suggest that the Service was in breach of any other legal 

requirements.   

Having reviewed internal processes the Service then commissioned an internal audit 

to review the in-house pensions administration and governance.  A specific request 

was made within the terms of reference of this audit to review the way in which split 

pensions were administered and recorded.  The outcome of the audit provided 

substantial reassurance and some further recommendations were put in place to 

ensure that all future retirees in scope for a split pension were easily identified.  To 

date there have been no further cases which has provided the necessary 

reassurance to the FBU, the Local Pension Board and in-house pensions team.    

Although for the reasons stated above the decision was taken not to report the 

breach to the Pensions Regulator, the development of this case study was 

suggested by the FBU as it would raise awareness of split pensions to other Fire and 

Rescue Services.  It was also a means of showcasing an example of good 

partnership working between the Service and the FBU to resolve an issue that 

needed addressing quickly, compassionately, and accurately. 

Page 48



 

By heightening awareness of the need to ensure records are complete to enable 

proper scrutiny of split pension eligibility, the Service in partnership with the FBU has 

been able to re-establish reassurance with members in respect of this issue.   

 

Page 49





 

 

  FIREFIGHTERS PENSIONS UPDATE  

   IMMEDIATE DETRIMENT 

 

 

The Service and the Fire Brigades Union (FBU) met on 21 October 2021 to discuss 

how we intend to progress the handling of immediate detriment cases. 

As a reminder, the term “Immediate Detriment” covers two categories of people that 

have been discriminated against, and who have lost out, or will lose out, due to the 

way their pensions have been, or will be calculated.   

Employees in Cheshire affected under the terms of the McCloud/Sergeant 

judgement can be categorised under the following: 

Category 1 cases 

Members who at the date of the agreement are employed by CFRS and: 

a. Become eligible to retire for any reason, including ill-health, and draw their 

pension and want to have all their benefits paid from the Firefighter’s Pension 

Scheme 1992 or the Firefighter’s Pension Scheme 2006 (not the 2015 

Scheme); or  

b. Do not qualify for a lower-tier or higher-tier ill-health pension under the 2015 

Scheme and are therefore left without an immediately payable pension, but 

would be entitled to such a pension under the Firefighter’s Pension Scheme 

1992 or the Firefighter’s Pension Scheme 2006. 

Category 2 cases 

Members who, at the date of the agreement: 

a. Have already retired (for any reason, including ill-health) and who are 

receiving a pension under the 2015 Scheme, and who wish to be treated as 

having retired as a member of the Firefighter’s Pension Scheme 1992 or the 

Firefighter’s Pension Scheme 2006; or 

b. Have left the fire and rescue service and did not qualify for a lower-tier or 

higher-tier ill-health pension under the 2015 Scheme and are therefore left 

without a pension in payment, but would be entitled to such a pension under 

the Firefighter’s Pension Scheme 1992 or the Firefighter’s Pension Scheme 

2006. 

If you are in any of these categories you may be entitled to an immediate pension or 

an increased pension. While all remedying legislation is not expected to be in place 

until October 2023, under the FBU/LGA MoU Framework agreement, once Cheshire 

Page 51

Agenda Item 6



Fire Authority has decided to adopt the MoU framework, it sets out the process to  

consider your case and take any corrective action. 

The meeting with Cheshire FBU followed the recent announcement that the FBU and 

Local Government Association had agreed a Memorandum of Understanding which 

is intended to allow Fire Authorities to deal with immediate detriment cases.   

The Memorandum of Understanding includes a framework that describes how 

immediate detriment cases should be handled.  As the MOU is not legally binding, 

the Service intends to report to the Fire Authority’s Staffing Committee on 8 

November 2021 to explain how it intends to work with FBU to deal with immediate 

detriment.  It expects the Committee to be supportive.  

The Service will obviously accept applications from those individuals already in 

receipt of their pension and also from individuals that have confirmed an impending 

retirement date.  However, the Service is not yet in a position to confirm the 

processes and timescales outlined in the MOU, although it is working towards this 

and once agreement has been reached locally we will provide an update with 

anticipated timescales.     

Due to the complexity of immediate detriment cases, and the fact that the software 

has not yet been configured to calculate benefits in this way, the calculations will 

need to be manually prepared.  To this end the Service is in discussion with its 

pension provider to establish how immediate detriment cases can be handled 

accurately and efficiently.  It is also really important that correspondence with those 

affected is as clear as possible and this is part of the discussion.  Further information 

will be provided as the situation becomes clearer, including an explanation about the 

process and timescales associated with it. 

It will be important for those affected by immediate detriment to have time to make 

an informed decision and where required the opportunity to seek advice  

The Service and the FBU have committed to meeting regularly to review the situation 

and to work together in the best interests of all staff and retirees affected. 

If you have any questions, please email payroll.pensions@cheshirefire.gov.uk or 

contact Jill Swift, Pensions Manager at jill.swift@cheshire.police.uk or FBU members 

can contact the FBU Secretary at Andrew.fox-hewitt@fbu.org.uk  

 

                                                                         Andrew Fox-Hewitt 
Andrea Harvey      Andrew Fox-Hewitt 

Director of Transformation     FBU Secretary 

Page 52

mailto:payroll.pensions@cheshirefire.gov.uk
mailto:jill.swift@cheshire.police.uk
mailto:Andrew.fox-hewitt@fbu.org.uk


  

 
 

 

Dear Colleagues, 
 

Firefighter Pensions Update 
 

This letter provides an update to current Cheshire Fire and Rescue Service 
employees who are members of, or are eligible to join, the Firefighters Pension(s) 
Scheme on the following:  

 Public Service Pensions & Judicial Offices Bill 

 Framework for Managing Immediate Detriment Cases 

 Ensuring you keep records for Tax Purposes 

 Ensuring your key employment details are correct 

 Registering with My Own Pension Online 

 The Future.  

 

To ensure that everyone has access to information about the pension changes we 
have set up a communications page that can be accessed from the front page of the 
intranet.  All future updates relating to the current pensions situation will be posted 
here so please take time to check back periodically. 
 

Public Service Pensions & Judicial Offices Bill 
 
On 19 July 2021, HM Treasury (HMT) introduced the Public Service Pensions & 
Judicial Offices Bill (PSP&JO Bill) to the House of Lords. This can be found online at 
bills.parliament.uk/bills/3032/publications  and sets out in law how the government 
intends to remove the discriminatory impact found by the courts in the way that the 
2015 reforms were introduced for some members (i.e. remedy). However, the 
legislation is not expected to become law until October 2023.  
 
LGA/FBU Framework for Managing Immediate Detriment Cases 
 
The LGA and FBU have recently agreed a framework for managing immediate 
detriment issues and have issued a signed Memorandum of Understanding to all 
services in England last week. We are currently reviewing the updated guidance, the 
framework and are looking at the governance arrangements that would be required 
for us to adopt the framework within Cheshire. This will be considered by the Fire 
Authority on 8 November and we will provide a more detailed update in due course.   

 

Our Ref: AH/HW 

Your Ref:  

Contact: Andrea Harvey 

Tel No: 01606 868666 

Date: 26/10/2021 

Email: andrea.harvey@chechirefire.gov.uk 

  

 
 
 
  

 

Page 53

https://bills.parliament.uk/bills/3032/publications


  

 
 

 

Ensuring you keep records for Tax Purposes  
 
In the meantime, as your tax position is unique to you and your personal 
circumstances, you are advised to keep copies of all relevant records used for tax 
purposes. The Deferred Choice Underpin (DCU) means that you will be able to 
choose either your old pension scheme benefits, if applicable, or the 2015 benefits 
for the remedy period and may result in changes to, for example, your pension 
contributions. If it is not possible to manage this through the payroll you may be 
responsible for claiming tax relief direct with HMRC. It may also affect your annual 
and lifetime allowances and other tax and tax relief matters. 
 
Ensuring your key employment details are correct 
 
Due to the potentially complex nature of these issues, we need to be confident that 
your personal data held by XPS and Cheshire FRS is accurate and up to date.  To 
assist with this process, please check: 
 

1. Your pension Annual Benefits Statement produced by XPS – This has key 

personal, employment and service data. If there are any errors, please raise 

your queries in the first instance with XPS via their website: My Own Pension 

- Firefighter Member - Contact Us  

 

2. Your personal contact details, address and employment data held on Self 

Serve.  If there are any errors with this data please raise your queries with 

your line manager in the first instance or contact the HR Payroll and Pensions 

Team at payroll.pensions@cheshirefire.gov.uk  

 
Registering with My Own Pension Online 
 
It is extremely important that you make XPS aware of any changes to your personal 
details including change of postal address or email. The quickest and easiest way to 
do this is to register to My Own Pension Online.  Where you will be able to view and 
update your personal details, which includes changing your death grant expression 
of wish, if needed. You can do this via their website: My Own Pension - Firefighter 
Member - Member Self Service  
 
Notification of Retirement 
 
The initial priority and focus relating to immediate detriment is on staff approaching 
retirement and those that have already retired.   Therefore, any members who are 
considering retirement are encouraged to notify their manager and the payroll and 
pension team as soon as possible.  Whilst contractually the vast majority of staff only 
need to give one-month notice of retirement,, at this time due to the complexities 
involved in pension calculations and the backlog of cases, a minimum of 3 months 
notice is requested.  This is to give the individual and the service the best possible 
chance of delivering the correct pension benefits to members during this period.  

Page 54

https://www.myownpension.co.uk/firefighter-member/contact-us/
https://www.myownpension.co.uk/firefighter-member/contact-us/
mailto:payroll@cheshirefire.gov.uk
https://www.myownpension.co.uk/firefighter-member/member-self-service/
https://www.myownpension.co.uk/firefighter-member/member-self-service/


  

 
 

 

This suggested timeframe has been discussed and agreed in conjunction with the 
FBU.   
 
Although the priority is currently on staff who are within 3 months of retirement, it is 
understood that there are individuals who are considering retiring within the next 12 
months who would also like access to their pension figures.  To assist with this, we 
have agreed with the FBU our intent to put in place an in-house facility for the 
provision of indicative figures for staff who are considering retirement.  Although staff 
will not be provided with definitive final figures, the information provided will be 
sufficient to provide a helpful insight and to assist with personal decisions relating to 
retirement.  We expect that this facility will be available within the next 6-8 weeks. 
 
The Future 
 
From 1 April 2022, it is anticipated that all legacy pension scheme members will 
move to the Firefighters Pension Scheme 2015. Please be reassured that any legacy 
benefits you will have accrued under the 1992 Firefighter Pension Scheme prior to 
moving over will be protected under the remedy arrangements. 
 
Going forward, please continue to check the new pensions page on the intranet as 
we will ensure any changes and updates are communicated there. We will also start 
to target communication so we can be assured that those who are affected by the 
changes will receive regular updates that are relevant to them.  
 
 
Yours sincerely,  
 

 
Andrea Harvey 
Director of Transformation 
 
 

Page 55





Dear Colleagues, 

 
As one of the retirees who is in scope for Immediate Detriment, I am writing to advise you of 
the Service’s current position relating to the progression of Immediate Detriment cases. 

As a reminder, the term “Immediate Detriment” covers two categories of people that have 
been discriminated against, and who have lost out, or will lose out, due to the way their 
pensions have been, or will be calculated.  This involves members like yourself who are 
already drawing a pension; and secondly, members who will retire before the law is changed 
(expected October 2023). 

As you are aware on October 8th 2021 an announcement was made to all Fire and Rescue 
Services regarding the agreement of a Memorandum of Understanding between the FBU and 
the Local Government Association.  This was to outline how Fire Authorities could progress 
Immediate Detriment cases.   

As the Memorandum of Understanding is not legally binding, the Service will be reporting to 
the Fire Authority’s Staffing Committee on 8 November 2021 to explain how it intends to deal 
with immediate detriment.  The intention is to try to do this as far as is practicable in 
accordance with the Memorandum of Understanding, and it is expected that the Committee 
will be supportive.  

In the meantime the Service is accepting applications from individuals in your position who are 
already in receipt of their pension.  It should be noted however, that these cannot be 
progressed until we have Fire Authority support and are satisfied that suitable governance 
arrangements are in place.  At this time we also are unable to commit to the timescales 
proposed within the Memorandum of Understanding but will endeavour to work towards this.   

Due to the complexity, coupled with the many variations in individual’s circumstances, it is also 
important to be aware that all calculations will need to be undertaken manually.  To this end 
the Service is in discussion with its pension provider to establish the capacity and resources 
available and we are seeking to understand how Immediate Detriment cases will be handled 
with absolute accurately and efficiency.  We are also in discussions with them about ensuring 
that correspondence is as clear as possible so that you are able to make informed decisions.   
 
Please be reassured that we are working with a genuine sense of urgency on all matters 
relating to immediate detriment in conjunction with the FBU.  With this in mind, I would ask for 
your patience and understanding as we work through the information and put the necessary 
governance arrangements in place.  Further information will be provided as the situation 
becomes clearer, including an explanation about the process and timescales associated with 
it.    

Please also be reassured that the Service and the FBU have committed to meeting regularly 
to review the situation and to work together to remove the discrimination as soon as is 
practically possible. 

To apply to have your pension reviewed if you have not already done so, or if you have any 
questions, please email Jill Swift, Pensions Manager at jill.swift@cheshire.police.uk . 

Yours sincerely 

 

 

Andrea Harvey 
Director of Transformation 

 

  

 

Page 57

mailto:jill.swift@cheshire.police.uk


 

Page 58



Reviewed – October 2021 
 

Fire Risk Scoring Matrix 

P
ro

b
ab

ility/ 
Likelih

o
o

d
 

VH = 5 5 10 15 20 25 

H = 4 4 8 12 16 20 

M = 3 3 6 9 12 15 

L = 2 2 4 6 8 10 

VL = 1 1 2 3 4 5 

 VL = 1 L = 2 M = 3 H = 4 VH = 5 

Impact 
 

Risk Priority 

15-25 High Significant Action Plan required 

9 – 14 Medium Action Plan required 

1 – 8 Low Risk can be tolerated 

 

  

P
age 59

A
genda Item

 7



Reviewed – October 2021 
 

Joint Risk Scoring Guidance 

IMPACT 
Impact Score Service Performance Finance Reputation Legal Safety Human 

Rights/ 
Diversity 

5 = Major Major 
impact/disruption to 
critical services.  
Inability to deliver a 
number of 
organisational 
objectives. 

Significant performance impact.  
Not achieving more than one of 
the organisation’s performance 
targets  

  
Fire – over £1m 
  

Sustained national 
media coverage. 
External Enquiry. 
Removal of 
command team 
member.  
 

Prosecution. 
Major 
claims/fines 
against both 
organisations 

Multiple 
fatalities or 
multiple 
permanent 
injuries 

 Unjustified 
impact or 
interference. 

4 = Serious Serious 
impact/disruption on 
critical services with a 
noticeable impact on 
local communities. 

Large impact on performance 
resulting in not achieving one of 
the organisation’s performance 
targets 

  
Fire - over £500k 
  

Sustained adverse 
media coverage 

Serious 
claims/fines 
against both 
organisations 

Single 
fatality or 
sever e 
injuries  

Serious 
unjustified 
impacts or 
interference. 

3 = Moderate Noticeable impact on 
non-critical services or 
short term disruption. 

Impact on performance 
resulting in difficulty achieving 
performance targets but where 
corrective action can still be 
taken 

  
 
Fire – over 
£250,000 

Some local adverse 
publicity 

Significant 
litigation/clai
ms.  Within 
insurance 
cover. 

Major injury Some limited 
unjustified 
impact or 
interference. 

2 = Low Minor disruption to 
Service Delivery 

Small impact on performance 
targets but can still be 
managed. 

  
Fire – over £100K 
  

Short term customer 
dissatisfaction 

Minor 
claims/compla
ints within 
insurance 
cover 

Minor or 
slight injury 

Impact of 
interference 
manageable 
with existing 
resources 

1 = Negligible No noticeable 
disruption to service. 
Impact is easily 
manageable 

Minimal/short term impact on 
performance, not to the extent 
where key targets are 
impacted. 

  
Fire – below £5K 
  

Manageable 
customer 
dissatisfaction 

Unlikely to 
lead to 
litigation or a 
claim. 

Unlikely to 
have any 
safety 
impact. 

No impact on 
diversity/human 
rights 

 

 

P
age 60



Reviewed – October 2021 
 

Probability Score Detailed Description % Chance Relative Frequency 
5 =   
Very Likely 

Has regularly occurred with the organisation or there are 
strong indications that the risk will happen in the future. 

80% or more Certain that it will happen yearly 

4 =  Likely Has previously occurred or there is a strong probability that 
it will happen in next 12 months within the organisation. 

50% - 80% Highly likely to occur Every 1 to 2 years   

3 = Moderate Some indication that the risk will happen in the short to 
medium term. 

20% - 50% More likely not to happen 
than happen 

Every 2 – 5 years   

2 =  Unlikely Limited indication at this stage that the risk will happen. 5% - 20% Unlikely to happen but 
possible 

Every 5 to 20 
years   

1 = Remote No indication that the risk will happen.  Expected to be a 
rare occurrence 

0% - 5% Extremely unlikely Every 20 years or 
more 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 61



Reviewed – October 2021 
 

Firefighter Pension Scheme Risk Register 

Risk Area - 

OPERATIONS 

Likelihood Impact Score Direction 
Control Owner Test / 

Review 

Comments 

Operational disaster 

(i.e. flood/fire) 

1 3 3 ↔ All records are stored electronically. 

Data is backed up regularly and server 

providers also have business 

continuity procedures in place. 

Pension 

Provider 

Annual 

review 

Business continuity and 

safety/security of 

records is part of 

contract agreements 

↔ The majority of pension documents 

are electronic and all personnel files 

have been scanned.  

 

Data is regularly backed up, can be 

accessed from anywhere on the 

network and server providers also 

have business continuity procedures in 

place. 

 

Business Continuity plan to be 

reviewed on a bi-annual basis. 

Head of 

People 

Services and 

HR Business 

Support 

Supervisor 

Ongoing Business continuity and 

safety/security of 

records is part of data 

storage contract 

agreements. 

 

↔ Contracts with pension provider are 

stored electronically and hard copy 

stored in Legal Dept. 

Pension 

Scheme 

Manager / 

Pensions 

Manager 

In line with 

contract 

dates 

 

Member data 

incomplete or 

inaccurate 

 

 

 

 

 

2 3 6 ↔ Direct access of members to data and 

information via online portal. 

 

Annual reconciliation of member data 

to ensure accuracy and identify and 

resolve any gaps in conjunction with 

XPS 

Pension 

Coordinator / 

Pension 

Provider 

Annual Currently, checks are 

completed in 

preparation for annual 

returns. 

 

Direct access for retirees 

to online portal now 

available 

P
age 62



Reviewed – October 2021 
 

 

 

 

 

↔ 
Annual data check of common data 

and any addresses found to be 

incorrect are investigated using a 

tracing agency where required 

Pension 

Provider / HR 

Business 

Support 

Supervisor 

Annual  

↔ 
Robust payroll processes in place to 

ensure accuracy of data sent to 

pension provider 

Head of 

People 

Services 

Review 

Annually 

 

Administration Failure 

/ Maladministration 

2 3 6 ↔ Formal agreement in place with 

pension provider including SLAs. 

 

Opportunity to raise issues through 

attendance at quarterly regional 

pension provider meetings 

Scheme 

Manager/ 

Pension 

Provider 

Quarterly Receive quarterly reports 

from the provider’s 

performance 

management system 

outlining where SLAs 

have been met / 

breached.  

 

Provider presents report 

to the Pension Board at 

each meeting. 

↔ Authority Levels and signatory lists 

clearly documented and up to date 

Scheme 

Manager / 

Pension 

Provider 

When there is 

a change in 

staff or policy 

 

↔ Review Pension Providers audit reports  Scheme 

Manager/ 

Head of 

People 

Services 

Annually  

↔ Close management of administration 

contract 

Scheme 

Manager/Pen

sions 

Manager 

Quarterly Quarterly contract 

meetings with provider 

and review at Pension 

Board. 

P
age 63



Reviewed – October 2021 
 

↔ Robust internal controls in place for 

both the pension provider and CFRS 

including: 

- Pre-checks to take place by 

Pension Provider and the Pensions 

Co-ordinator prior to final 

authorisation by the senior team 

member (for all calculations) 

- Provider to have documented 

controls for all calculations and 

payments 

- CFRS to check agreement with all 

calculations for pension and lump 

sums and approve payment.  

Pensions 

Co-ordinator 

/ Pension 

Provider / 

Pensions 

Manager 

Ongoing   

↔ Provider has a training programme in 

place for their staff, including Fire 

specific pension scheme rules  

Provider Ongoing  

↔ Transparent and open monitoring 

process to ensure lessons are learned 

from any errors made.  

Scheme 

Manager / 

Pension 

Provider 

Ongoing Monitored through 

quarterly contract 

meetings and at Pension 

Board 

↔ Ensure resilience in Pension Provider 

teams to mitigate the impact of loss of 

key staff/knowledge of Fire Pension 

Schemes 

Pension 

Provider 

Ongoing Following retirement of 

key staff in XPS have 

promoted staff with 

prior experience and 

knowledge of fire 

pensions.   

Data Forecasts and 

Calculations 

3 3 9 ↔ Robust business process in place to 

ensure the Administrator are provided 

with accurate pensionable pay and 

service information to enable accurate 

forecasts to be produced for members 

Pensions 

Manager/ 

Pensions 

Coordinator 

Annually  

P
age 64



Reviewed – October 2021 
 

↔ Administrator to make available 

suitable forms and guidance to enable 

clear instructions to be provided by 

employer 

Provider Ongoing  

McCloud/Sargeant 

Lack of resources to 

complete any remedy 

actions 

4 5 20 ↔ 
- Ensure additional budget is 

available for the additional internal 

resources that will be needed to 

complete any remedy actions 

including additional budget which 

may be required to pay for tasks 

which may need to be completed 

by payroll/pension providers on 

top of the current contract SLAs. 

 

- Consider state of data in advance 

of remedy process being 

confirmed. 

Scheme 

Manager / 

HR Manager 

/ Finance 

Manager 

Ongoing Additional resources 
have been obtained, 
but the full extent of 
the work involved 
remains unclear until 
the remedy hearing 
takes place. A hearing 
date is yet to be set. 
 

Cyber Security 1 4 4 ↔ 
- Both Cheshire Fire and Rescue 

Service and the pension 

administrator have access to 

specialist skills and knowledge to 

assess and manage the risk of 

cyber security incidents 

- All systems are subject to regular 

back ups to ensure critical data is 

not lost 

- Robust IT policies on password, 

access and acceptable use along 

with limited access to certain 

websites to reduce the risk of 

malware attacks 

- Documented business continuity 

plans where security is breached. 

Head of IT/ 

Pension 

Provider 

Annually Pension administrator 

has provided an 

overview of cyber 

security policies.  

P
age 65



Reviewed – October 2021 
 

- Both CFRS and the pension 

administrator to have: 

   - robust system controls in place  

      such as firewalls, anti-virus and  

      anti-malware as well as a  

      regular schedule of software  

      updates. 

   - Access to systems and data is  

      limited to authorised        

            personnel only 

Loss of 

experienced/ 

knowledgeable staff 

2 4 8 ↓ - Ensure role holder has the 

appropriate skills, experience and 

qualifications 

- Ensure full induction and training 

is given to new starter to ensure 

they receive the necessary 

grounding in Firefighter Pensions 

- Provide access to LGA training and 

LGA conferences to build 

knowledge 

- Ensure ongoing support plan is in 

place to assist new starter to 

complete pension board and FPS 

bulletin actions 

- Provide necessary training and 

introduction to XPS to enable role 

holder to manage contract going 

forwards 

Head of 

People 

Services 

Ongoing 2 New Posts have been 

established and 

recruited into: 

New Pensions Manager 

post – permanent 

position dedicated to 

Fire to be taken up by 

previous postholder.  

Already skilled and 

knowledgeable.  

Expected in post 

October.  

Temporary 6 months 

Pensions Support 

Officer.   

 

 

P
age 66



Reviewed – October 2021 
 

Risk Area – 

FINANCIAL 

Likelihood Impact Score  Control Owner Test / 

Review 

Comments 

Excessive charges by 

provider  

2 2 4 ↔ Contracts are governed by OJEU rules 

and are often limited to 2 years with the 

option to extend, meaning providers are 

regularly reviewed.   

 

Contract prices and any adhoc scenarios 

where additional charges may be 

incurred are laid out in the contract 

terms. 

 

Scheme 

Manager 

Term of the 

Contract 

It is always possible that 

changes to pension regs 

or tax regs will incur 

additional work for the 

provider or require 

software to be 

reconfigured, resulting in 

unforeseen costs for the 

FRA i.e. GMP 

reconciliation and 

McCloud/Sargeant. 

Fraud / Fraudulent 

behaviour 

1 4 4 ↔ Only pension forms from authorised 

signatories will be accepted by the 

pension provider 

 

Pension Provider staff have documented 

processes and both internal and 

external audit procedures.  

Authorised 

Signatories/ 

Provider 

Ongoing  

Costs incurred due to 

failure to apply 

scheme/tax rules 

correctly or in a 

timely manner 

2 3 6 ↔ - Pension provider have a technical 

team with specialist knowledge of 

the regulations and tax rules 

- Pension provider produce employer 

bulletins outlining tax rules for 

employers 

- Employer subscribes to knowledge 

hub and receives LGA/Home Office 

bulletins and circulars 

- Regular updates from the Scheme 

Advisory Board 

- Employer subscribes to HMRC 

pension tax updates 

Scheme 

Manager / 

Provider 

Ongoing No costs incurred to 

date. 

P
age 67



Reviewed – October 2021 
 

- Access professional tax advice when 

necessary 

McCloud v Sargeant 

Possible back claims 

from members 

negatively impacted 

by this case 

5 5 25 ↔ 
- Finance team to ensure reserves are 

in place  

Scheme 

Manager / 

Provider 

Head of 

Finance 

Ongoing Remedy not yet known. 

Treasury likely to cover 

some costs, but these 

are likely to involve: 

 

- back payment of 

employer contributions 

 

- compensation and 

interest payments 

 

- additional resource to 

co-ordinate the remedy 

process.  

 

- Additional charges 

from the pension 

administrator to 

recalculate historic 

pension payments and 

reconfigure software 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 68



Reviewed – October 2021 
 

Risk Area –  

FUNDING 

Likelihood Impact Score  Control Owner Test / 

Review 

Comments 

Failure to deduct 

correct contributions 

from pay 

2 2 4 ↔ - Monthly reconciliation of pay 

changes to ensure any pension 

related changes are applied 

correctly 

- Clear policy on application of 

pensionable pay rules 

- Bi-annual contribution band checks 

are completed in April when 

bandings change and July when pay 

award is applied 

- Automate payroll processes where 

possible. Where not possible, robust 

process should be in place for any 

manual workarounds 

Head of 

People 

Services 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Head of 

People 

Services  

Monthly  Bi-

Annually 

and 

Annually 

Process for APBs in 

1992/2006 scheme and 

pensionable pay 

adjustments for temp 

promotions in the 2015 

scheme are manual. 

Failure of employer 

to pay contributions 

to the scheme 

1 3 3 ↔ Pension deductions are accounted for 

by the FRA and therefore contributions 

are deducted directly from employee 

pay and accounted for in the pension 

fund account.  

Finance / 

Treasurer 

Monthly Monthly checks are 

conducted on this by the 

Finance team. 

Failure to manage 

FPS fund correctly i.e. 

injury pension 

accounting 

1 3 3 ↔ - Follow guidance provided by  

       Fire Finance network and Home  

       Office circulars 

- Training and guidance available for 

finance team on tax and accounting 

matters through LGA, CIPFA and 

PSTAX.  

- Attend Fire Finance Network 

meetings for guidance from 

colleagues in other Services. 

 

Finance / 

Treasurer 

 

 

Ongoing  

P
age 69



Reviewed – October 2021 
 

- Process in place to ensure fund is 

compensated in cases where 

abatement is not applied to the 

member 

 

McCloud v Sargeant 

Ruling leading to 

increased costs to the 

pension fund 

5 5 25 ↔ 
- Ensure the outcome of this ruling is 

factored in to any pension fund 

budgeting/accounting and 

contingency planning is considered.  

Finance / 

Treasurer 

 

TBC This is likely to impact 

employer contributions 

in the future 

 

 

Risk Area – 

REGULATORY 

AND 

COMPLIANCE 

Likelihood Impact Score  Control Owner Test / 

Review 

Comments 

Failure to interpret 

rules or legislation 

correctly 

2 

 

4 8 ↔ 
- Utilise central LGA resource and 

regional / national groups to assist 

with interpretation of rules and 

possible provision of legal opinion 

- Subscribe to the LGA Knowledge 

hub to get regular updates and 

liaise with other FRAs 

- Access professional advice where 

required 

- Utilise LGA/Home office bulletins 

and circulars 

- Utilise knowledge and expertise of 

the Pension Provider technical team 

- Annual training for pension board 

and members of the pension team 

- Attendance at FPS AGM 

Scheme 

Manager/ 

HR Business 

Support 

Supervisor/ 

Pension 

Board 

Members/ 

Pensions 

Manager 

Review as 

new legislat-

ion comes 

into Force 

 

P
age 70



Reviewed – October 2021 
 

- Clear documented process for 

decision making outlining process 

to be followed and the responsible 

parties 

Failure to comply 

with disclosure 

requirements or 

communicate with 

staff 

3 4 12 ↔ 
- Annual Benefit Statements (ABS) 

provided to all active scheme 

members in August each year 

- Annual Benefit Statements provided 

to all deferred members on an 

annual basis 

- Annual check to ensure all members 

have received an ABS 

- Spot check an ABS for each pension 

scheme to ensure accuracy of 

figures  

- Business processes in place to 

ensure the relevant legal statements 

are issued to any staff who are 

contractually or auto-enrolled.  

- Business process in place to 

communicate with members whose 

contribution banding changes.   

- Dedicated Intranet page for pension 

related matters which includes 

forms, details about the scheme 

rules, employee guides and 

information about pension tax.  

- Any news relating to changes to 

pension or pension tax is 

communicated in the Green Bulletin 

or where the change impacts all 

staff (i.e. end of contracting out), 

letters will be sent to all staff 

Provider 

 

 

Provider 

 

 

HR Business 

Supp Supvr  

Provider   

 

 

Head of 

People 

Services 

 

 

 

 

Pensions 

Manager 

 

 

 

Pensions 

Manager 

Annual 

 

 

Annual 

 

 

Annual 

 

 

Annual 

 

 

Annual 

 

 

 

 

Annual 

 

 

 

Ongoing 

 

 

 

 

Ongoing 

 

Training to be requested 

and provided by the 

pension provider for 

new members of CFRS 

pension team. 

P
age 71



Reviewed – October 2021 
 

Failure to offer Split 

Pensions to all 

eligible staff at point 

of retirement. 

2 2 4 ↔ 
- Several occurrences identified 

following audit exercise in 2019/20 

- Business process reviewed and 

changes made to documentation to 

ensure future cases are easily 

identifiable. 

- All retirees in scope contacted by 

XPS outlining options for remedy. 

- Pensions now reinstated with 

payment of arrears and settlement 

of sanction charges. 

Provider/ 

Scheme 

Manager/ 

Pensions 

Manager 

Ongoing No further issues or 

complaints regarding 

split pensions. 

 

P
age 72


	Agenda
	3 Notes from the previous meeting
	4 XPS Administration Cheshire Fire Pension Board Report 2021-2022
	5 Firefighter Pension Scheme Update
	Item 5 - Appendix A - Pension Scheme Membership Statistics Q2
	Item 5 - Appendix B - MoU signed by FBU and LGA) 8.10.21
	Item 5 - Appendix C - Joint-Statement-between-FBU-and-CFRS-October-2021
	Item 5 - Appendix D - Two-pension-award-case-study-September-2021

	6 McCloud/Sargeant Judgement Update
	Item 6 - Proposed letter to current staff
	Item 6 - Proposed letter to retirees in scope

	7 Firefighter Pension Scheme Risk Register



